E%a Nottinghamshire

¥ 7 County Council

Governance and Ethics Committee
Wednesday, 08 November 2017 at 13:00

County Hall, County Hall, West Bridgford, Nottingham, NG2 7QP

AGENDA
1 Minutes of last meeting held on 27 September 2017 3-6
2 Apologies for Absence
3 Declarations of Interests by Members and Officers:- (see note
below)

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
(b) Private Interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary)

4 Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 7-72

5 The Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-opted Members 73-76
6 Internal Audit Progress Report 2017-18 77 -92
7 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act - Annual Report 93 - 96
8 Joint Civic Reception for Nottinghamshire County Cricket Club 97 - 98
9 Work Programme 99 - 102
Notes

(2) Councillors are advised to contact their Research Officer for details of any
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(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Group Meetings which are planned for this meeting.

Members of the public wishing to inspect "Background Papers" referred to in
the reports on the agenda or Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
should contact:-

Customer Services Centre 0300 500 80 80

Persons making a declaration of interest should have regard to the Code of
Conduct and the Council’'s Procedure Rules. Those declaring must indicate
the nature of their interest and the reasons for the declaration.

Councillors or Officers requiring clarification on whether to make a
declaration of interest are invited to contact Keith Ford (Tel. 0115 977 2590)
or a colleague in Democratic Services prior to the meeting.

Councillors are reminded that Committee and Sub-Committee papers, with the
exception of those which contain Exempt or Confidential Information, may be
recycled.

This agenda and its associated reports are available to view online via an
online calendar - http://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/dms/Meetings.aspx
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% Nottinghamshire minutes
=5 1 County Council

Meetng GOVERNANCE AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Date Wednesday 27 September 2017 (commencing at 1.00pm)

membership
Persons absent are marked with "A’

COUNCILLORS

Bruce Laughton (Chairman)
Andy Sissons (Vice-Chairman)

Jim Creamer Rachel Madden A
Steve Carr A Mike Pringle

John Handley Mike Quigley MBE
Tony Harper Phil Rostance

Errol Henry JP

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE

Glen Bicknell

Heather Dickinson

Rob Disney Resources
Keith Ford

Nigel Stevenson

Cherry Dunk
Paul McKay Adult Social Care, Health & Public Protection
Bridgette Shilton

Tony Crawley KPMG External Auditors
Sayeed Haris

MINUTES

The Minutes of the last meeting held on 19 July 2017, having been previously
circulated, were confirmed and signed by the Chairman.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence was received from Councillor Steve Carr and Councillor
Rachel Madden.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS AND OFFICERS

None.
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016-17

Glen Bicknell (Senior Accountant) gave a presentation which included legal
requirements, context and changing timelines for producing the Statement of
Accounts and answered Members’ queries.

Tony Crawley (External Auditor) introduced the External Audit Report 2016/17
(appendix B of the report) and clarified that the finalised version of this
document would be subsequently shared with Members.

During discussions, it was agreed that any minor amendments to the Statement

of Accounts approved by the Section 151 Officer, in consultation with the

Chairman of the Committee, would be shared with Members.

RESOLVED: 2017/015

a) That the letter of representation be approved.

b) That the Statement of Accounts 2016-17 be approved and authority be
delegated to the Section 151 Officer, in consultation with the Chairman of the

Committee, to make further minor amendments if necessary.

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER

RESOLVED: 2017/016
That the revised Internal Audit Charter be approved.

FOLLOW UP OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

During discussions, the Committee Chairman highlighted that he would be
holding monthly meetings with Rob Disney (Head of Internal Audit) to look in
more detail at specific areas. The Chairman invited Committee Members to raise
any issues, on an ongoing basis, to feed into those meetings.

RESOLVED: 2017/017

That no further, more detailed updates on progress from relevant managers in
the areas of activity covered within the report were required at this stage.

EXTERNAL QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL AUDIT

RESOLVED: 2017/018

1) That the Committee’s role within the review process follows the suggested
approach detailed in paragraph 6 of the report.

2) That the outline specification for inviting tenders for the independent review

of the system of internal audit, with reference to appendix 1 and 2 of the
report, be agreed.
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DEPRIVATION OF ASSETS IN FINANCIAL ASSESSMENTS FOR PEOPLE
RECEIVING COUNCIL FUNDED CARE AND SUPPORT

Paul McKay (Service Director, South Nottinghamshire and Public Protection)
Cherry Dunk (Group Manager, Quality and Market Management) and Bridgette
Shilton (Team Manager — Adult Care Financial Services) introduced the report
and answered Members’ queries.

RESOLVED: 2017/019

That no further information was required at this stage on the areas of work
detailed within the report.

INFORMATION COMMISSIONER’S OFFICE MONETARY PENALTY NOTICE-
HOME CARE ALLOCATION SYSTEM

Paul McKay (Service Director, South Nottinghamshire and Public Protection)
introduced the report and answered Members’ queries.

RESOLVED: 2017/019

1) That the Information Commissioner’s Office findings and monetary fine in
respect of the Home Care Allocation System be acknowledged.

2) That the Committee received further reports on the progress of the
Information Governance Improvement Plan.

WORK PROGRAMME

During discussions, the Committee Chairman underlined that cross-party input
into the review of the Councillor Code of Conduct would be sought.

RESOLVED: 2017/020
That no further changes were required to the work programme.

The meeting closed at 2.13 pm.

CHAIRMAN
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E%a Nottinghamshire Report to Governance and Ethics
%4 1 County Council Committee

8" November 2017
Agenda Item: 4

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER

Purpose of the Report

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee about the Local Government
Ombudsman’s (LGO) Annual Letter, and decisions made by the LGO, relating to the
Council, in the year ending 31 March 2017.

Information and Advice

2. The Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) provides a free, independent and impartial
service to members of the public it looks at complaints about councils and other
organisations. It only looks at complaints when they have first been considered by the
Council and the complainant remains dissatisfied. The LGO cannot question a Council's
decision or action solely on the basis that someone does not agree with it. However, if the
LGO finds that something has gone wrong, such as poor service, service failure, delay or
bad advice and that a person has suffered as a result, the LGO aims to get the Council to
put it right by recommending a suitable remedy.

3. The LGO publishes its decisions on its website (www.lgo.org.uk/) .The decisions are
anonymous but the website can be searched by Council name or subject area.

4. The LGO'’s letter is attached to this report as Appendix A. As members will see from the
attached information the LGO made decisions on 96 complaints and enquiries relating to
Nottinghamshire County Council for the year ending March 2017. Only 27 complaints were
investigated in detail, as the rest were closed after initial enquiries, or referred back to the
Council for local resolution (cases where the complainant has not been through the
Council’s process). Those that were closed after initial enquiries include cases where the
LGO is satisfied that the Council has already taken appropriate action or that the issues
raised do not merit further investigation.

5. In the majority of cases the complaints were not upheld however in 11 cases (around 10% of
the referral to the LGO) they were, and remedies were recommended by the Ombudsman.
The LGO'’s decisions in all of these 11 cases are attached to this report as Appendix B; all
remedies have been actioned by the Council apart from one case in which the complainant
has refused to accept the financial redress.
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6. It is positive to note that in the previous year (2015-16) 40 detailed investigations were
carried out by the LGO and complaints were upheld in 12 cases. It is pleasing that the
number of investigations has decreased.

7. Five of the cases upheld by the LGO related to Adult Social Care, four to children’s social
care and two to corporate services; one in procurement, Resources Department, and one
property, Place Department. Three of the cases in Adult Social Care raised issues relating to
safeguarding investigations. As a result of these complaints the adult safeguarding
procedures have been revised and the importance of recording concerns and decisions has
been highlighted to staff.

8. There were no other themes highlighted within the complaints; the issues were related to the
individual circumstances of each case.

Statutory and Policy Implications

9. This report has been compiled after consideration of implications in respect of crime and
disorder, data protection and information governance finance, human resources, human
rights, the NHS Constitution (public health services), the public sector equality duty,
safeguarding of children and adults at risk, service users, smarter working, sustainability and
the environment and where such implications are material they are described below.
Appropriate consultation has been undertaken and advice sought on these issues as
required.

Data Protection and Information Governance

The decisions attached are anonymised and are publically available on the LGO’s website.
Financial Implications

Three of the complaints that were upheld contained recommendations which included financial
redress. This amounted to a total of £1760. It was recommended that two complainants each
received £500 as a result of uncertainty caused to them. In one case the complainant received
£560 to reimburse transport costs, and £200 for inconvenience time and trouble.

Safeguarding of Children and Adults at Risk Implications

Some of the complaints upheld about Adult Social Care Services related to safeguarding (this is
mentioned in the body of the report).

Implications for Service Users

All of the complaints were made to the LGO by service users, who have the right to approach
the LGO once they have been through the Council’s own complaint process.
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RECOMMENDATION/S
That members consider:-

1. whether there are any actions they require in relation to the issues contained within the
report.

2. how they would like to receive information about LGO decisions in the future.

Jayne Francis-Ward
Monitoring Officer and Corporate Director Resources

For any enquiries about this report please contact:

Jo Kirkby, Team Manager — Complaints and Information team

Constitutional Comments (SMG 20/10/17)

10.Governance & Ethics Committee is the appropriate body to consider the content of this
report. If the Committee resolves that any actions are required it must be satisfied that such
actions are within the Committee’s terms of reference.

Financial Comments (RWK 23/10/2017)

11.There are no specific financial implications arising directly from this report. The payments
detailed in the report were met from existing budgetary provisions.

HR Comments ([initials and date xx/xx/xx])
Background Papers and Published Documents
Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local
Government Act 1972.

e None

Electoral Division(s) and Member(s) Affected

e All
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Local Government &

20 ut 2027 OMBUDSMAN

By email

Anthony May
Chief Executive
Nottinghamshire County Council

Dear Anthony May,

Annual Review letter 2017

| write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the complaints made to the Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO) about your authority for the year ended 31
March 2017. The enclosed tables present the number of complaints and enquiries received
about your authority and the decisions we made during the period. | hope this information
will prove helpful in assessing your authority’s performance in handling complaints.

The reporting year saw the retirement of Dr Jane Martin after completing her seven year
tenure as Local Government Ombudsman. | was delighted to be appointed to the role of
Ombudsman in January and look forward to working with you and colleagues across the
local government sector in my new role.

You may notice the inclusion of the ‘Social Care Ombudsman’in our name and logo. You
will be aware that since 2010 we have operated with jurisdiction over all registered adult
social care providers, able to investigate complaints about care funded and arranged
privately. The change is in response to frequent feedback from care providers who tell us
that our current name is a real barrier to recognition within the social care sector. We hope
this change will help to give this part of our jurisdiction the profile it deserves.

Complaint statistics

Last year, we provided for the first time statistics on how the complaints we upheld against
your authority were remedied. This year’s letter, again, includes a breakdown of upheld
complaints to show how they were remedied. This includes the number of cases where our
recommendations remedied the fault and the number of cases where we decided your
authority had offered a satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. In these
latter cases we provide reassurance that your authority had satisfactorily attempted to
resolve the complaint before the person came to us.

We have chosen not to include a ‘compliance rate’ this year; this indicated a council’s
compliance with our recommendations to remedy a fault. From April 2016, we established a
new mechanism for ensuring the recommendations we make to councils are implemented,
where they are agreed to. This has meant the recommendations we make are more specific,
and will often include a time-frame for completion. We will then follow up with a council and
seek evidence that recommendations have been implemented. As a result of this new
process, we plan to report a more sophisticated suite of information about compliance and
service improvement in the future.

This is likely to be just one of several changes we will make to our annual letters and the
way we present our data to you in the future. We surveyed councils earlier in the year to find
out, amongst other things, how they use the data in annual letters and what data is the most
useful; thank you to those officers who responded. The feedback will inform new work to
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provide you, your officers and elected members, and members of the public, with more
meaningful data that allows for more effective scrutiny and easier comparison with other
councils. We will keep in touch with you as this work progresses.

| want to emphasise that the statistics in this letter comprise the data we hold, and may not
necessarily align with the data your authority holds. For example, our numbers include
enquiries from people we signpost back to the authority, but who may never contact you.

In line with usual practice, we are publishing our annual data for all authorities on our
website. The aim of this is to be transparent and provide information that aids the scrutiny of
local services.

The statutory duty to report Ombudsman findings and recommendations

As you will no doubt be aware, there is duty under section 5(2) of the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989 for your Monitoring Officer to prepare a formal report to the council where
it appears that the authority, or any part of it, has acted or is likely to act in such a manner as
to constitute maladministration or service failure, and where the LGO has conducted an
investigation in relation to the matter.

This requirement applies to all Ombudsman complaint decisions, not just those that result in
a public report. It is therefore a significant statutory duty that is triggered in most authorities
every year following findings of fault by my office. | have received several enquiries from
authorities to ask how | expect this duty to be discharged. | thought it would therefore be
useful for me to take this opportunity to comment on this responsibility.

| am conscious that authorities have adopted different approaches to respond
proportionately to the issues raised in different Ombudsman investigations in a way that best
reflects their own local circumstances. | am comfortable with, and supportive of, a flexible
approach to how this duty is discharged. | do not seek to impose a proscriptive approach, as
long as the Parliamentary intent is fulfilled in some meaningful way and the authority’s
performance in relation to Ombudsman investigations is properly communicated to elected
members.

As a general guide | would suggest:

e Where my office has made findings of maladministration/fault in regard to routine
mistakes and service failures, and the authority has agreed to remedy the complaint
by implementing the recommendations made following an investigation, | feel that the
duty is satisfactorily discharged if the Monitoring Officer makes a periodic report to
the council summarising the findings on all upheld complaints over a specific period.
In a small authority this may be adequately addressed through an annual report on
complaints to members, for example.

¢ Where an investigation has wider implications for council policy or exposes a more
significant finding of maladministration, perhaps because of the scale of the fault or
injustice, or the number of people affected, | would expect the Monitoring Officer to
consider whether the implications of that investigation should be individually reported
to members.

¢ In the unlikely event that an authority is minded not to comply with my
recommendations following a finding of maladministration, | would always expect the
Monitoring Officer to report this to members under section five of the Act. This is an
exceptional and unusual course of action for any authority to take and should be
considered at the highest tier of the authority.
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The duties set out above in relation to the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 are in
addition to, not instead of, the pre-existing duties placed on all authorities in relation to
Ombudsman reports under The Local Government Act 1974. Under those provisions,
whenever my office issues a formal, public report to your authority you are obliged to lay that
report before the council for consideration and respond within three months setting out the
action that you have taken, or propose to take, in response to the report.

I know that most local authorities are familiar with these arrangements, but | happy to
discuss this further with you or your Monitoring Officer if there is any doubt about how to
discharge these duties in future.

Manual for Councils

We greatly value our relationships with council Complaints Officers, our single contact points
at each authority. To support them in their roles, we have published a Manual for Councils,
setting out in detail what we do and how we investigate the complaints we receive. When we
surveyed Complaints Officers, we were pleased to hear that 73% reported they have found
the manual useful.

The manual is a practical resource and reference point for all council staff, not just those
working directly with us, and | encourage you to share it widely within your organisation. The
manual can be found on our website www.lgo.org.uk/link-officers

Complaint handling training

Our training programme is one of the ways we use the outcomes of complaints to promote
wider service improvements and learning. We delivered an ambitious programme of 75
courses during the year, training over 800 council staff and more 400 care provider staff.
Post-course surveys showed a 92% increase in delegates’ confidence in dealing with
complaints. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training

Yours sincerely

Michael King
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman for England
Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England
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Local Authority Report: Nottinghamshire County Council
For the Period Ending: 31/03/2017

For further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website:
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics

Complaints and enquiries received

Education

and Environment
Children’s Services
Services

Highways
and Housing
Transport

Corporate
and Other
Services

Planning and
Development

Adult Care Benefits and

Services

38 1 5 53 3 8 1 0 0 109

Decisions made Detailed Investigations

Incomplete or Referred back = Closed After
Advice Given for Local Initial Not Upheld Upheld Uphold Rate

Invalid Resolution Enquiries

Notes Complaints Remedied

Our uphold rate is calculated in relation to the total number of detailed investigations.
Satisfactorily by

The number of remedied complaints may not equal the number of upheld complaints. by LGO Authority before LGO
This is because, while we may uphold a complaint because we find fault, we may not Involvement
always find grounds to say that fault caused injustice that ought to be remedied.
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9 February 2017

Local Government

Complaint reference: OMBUDSMAN

16 006 916

Complaint against:

Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: The Council failed to secure the best possible price for
land it disposed of. It also failed to give the finance and property
committee all the information it needed to make an informed decision.
But | cannot conclude that had these faults not occurred Mr B would
have been the successful bidder. It has, however, caused him some
uncertainty.

The complaint

Mr B complains that the Council failed to follow the correct process when selling
agricultural land it owned (land A). He argues that the Council already had a
preferred bidder and failed to give his bid proper consideration.

Mr B also argues that the Council failed to ensure that the tenant of land A was
paying the market rate in rent.

What | have investigated
| have only investigated the first part of Mr B's complaint.

The final section of my report explains my reasons for not investigating the rest of
the complaint.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

The Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice caused by
maladministration and service failure. | have used the word fault to refer to these.
The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong
simply because the complainant disagrees with it. She must consider whether
there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Locas Government Act 1974,
section 34(3))

How | considered this complaint
| have:
Read the papers submitted by Mr B and discussed the complaint with him.

Considered the Council's comments about the complaint and the supporting
documents it provided.

Made a third party enquiry to the Council’s auditors.

Shared my draft decision with Mr B, the Council and the third party and

considered their responses.
Page 15 of 102



10.

12,

13.

14,

What | found
Law and guidance

Local Government Act 1972

Local authorities are given powers under the 1972 Act to dispose of land in any
manner they wish, including sale of their freehold interest, granting a lease or
assigning any unexpired term on a lease, and the granting of easements. The
only constraint is the disposal must be for the best consideration reasonably
obtainable, unless the secretary of state consents to the disposal.

It is government policy that local authorities and other public bodies shouid
dispose of surplus land wherever possible. It is expected that land should be sold
for the best consideration reasonably obtainable. However, it is recognised that
there may be circumstances where an authority considers it appropriate to
dispose of fand at an undervalue.

Council’s constitution

The Council’'s constitution sets out the process for disposing of land by informal
tender. It states that the “Service Director, Transport, Property and Environment,
in consultation with the chairman of the Finance and Property Committee will
make arrangements in appropriate cases for properties to be sold by open
informal tender which must be preceded by public advert subject to appropriate
limits”.

Events leading to the complaint

Council puts land up for sale

On 12 October 2015 the finance and property committee decided the Council
should sell land A and use an estate agent to manage the process and advertise
the sale

The estate agent’s brochure about the sale said “the /and will be sold subject to a
development uplift clause. The uplift clause specifies that 25% of any increase in
value of the land due to development (as defined in section 55 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990) will be payable to the vendors or their successors in
title such development occur within 50 years from the dale of completion”.

The Council advertised the sale on the estate agents website, a third party
property website and a farming website.

The Council received two offers for land A, one from Mr B and the other from
bidder 2, who was the previous tenant of land A. The estate agent then wrote to
both bidders and asked for best and finai offers by 12 noon on 18 December
2015. Mr B argues that the Council should have split the land into different lots to
attract more bidders. He argues that not doing so favoured bidder 2 who had
previously been linked to the Council in a professional capacity. Mr B believes
that this has meant that the Council failed to secure the best possible price for the
land.

On 18 December 2015 Mr B put in another offer which increased the overage to
35% but kept the cash amount the same (offer X). Bidder 2 placed an escalating
bid, to increase any other offers received by £1000 up to a maximum of Y with a
25% overage rate. An overage clause gives the seller of a property the right to
share in any increase in value that might occur because of planning permission
being granted at a later date.
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15.

18,

18.

18.

20.

21.

22,

Mr B then sent a late offer to the Council on 18 January 2016. He increased his
cash offer to X+1 and kept the increased 35% overage. He also said some of the
land would be available for the community to use.

The Council decided not to put this offer before the property and finance
committee because it was late. This is relevant because the Parish Council, on 10
November 2015, raised its concerns with the Council that it was selling land A
without any allocation for community allotments. It also raised concerns about the
low overage rate because of the likelihood of land A being developed in the future
as identified in the local plan.

The property and finance committee considered Mr B’s second offer (X) alongside
the escalating offer from bidder 2 on 25 January. The Council’s report to the
committee provided the details of both offers. It said that Bidder 2 had the highest
offer out of the two bids. When considering overage and development potential
the report said “i it thought that there may be limited future development
potential... This would however be subject to policy change by the local planning
authority”. The committee decided to approve bidder 2 to buy land A because it
considered that bidder 2 had the highest offer.

The Council completed the sale with bidder 2 in March 2016.
Mr B complains to the Council

Mr B wrote to the Council about the sale of land A in February 2016. He said the
Council had not followed the correct process and had failed in its statutory duty to
secure the best price for the land. Mr B said the Council had failed to:

Give his overage rate proper consideration because some of land A featured in
the Council’s local plan for possible development.

Advertise land A in line with legislation.
Review rental rates in line with market rates.

Give the current tenant timely notice so any buyer could not take the land until
Autumn 2017. This would be a disadvantage for anyone wishing to buy the land
except the existing tenant.

In response to Mr B’s conceins, the Council said it only reported bids it received
within the deadline to the property and finance committee. The committee then
approved the sale to the highest offer, bidder 2. But even if it had accepted Mr B's
late offer (X+1) it was still lower, in monetary terms, than bidder 2’s offer. It said
that planning permission does not exist for the iand and therefore there was no
uplift or overage to quantify.

The Council said it openly marketed land A in the nationai press and many
property portals and the Council was in no doubt that it marketed the land openly
and fairly. It also explained that the committee took the decision to sell the land
after the tenancy renewal date. It said there would have been no advantage in the
Council serving notice between the committee date and the anticipated sale date.
This is because the buyer of the land can still serve notice with the same effective
2017 date.

Mr B remained concerned about the Council's consideration of his offer,
especially the overage rate. He provided the Council with details of case law
which supported the view that the Council should have taken overage into
account when it disposed of land A. Mr B asked for the Council to review the sale
before it completed the sale.
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23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28,

28,

30.

In response to Mr B's concerns and complaints the Council again said that it was
satisfied that it had followed the correct process when selling the land. It
explained that the committee considered his increased overage offer but decided
that bidder 2’s offer was of a higher value than his. The Council also said that it
would be wrong to accept late offers and the Council ethically took the correct
approach.

| have seen evidence that following Mr B’s complaints the Council also completed
a report to consider the potential future income from overage claw back if
development did take place on land A. This report explained that the
neighbourhood local plan was still in development but the Council had identified
part of land A for potential development. It said if the development went ahead as
planned a 35% overage rate, instead of 25%, could resuit in the Council receiving
another £8769. But it reminded readers that no planning consent exists for land A
because the Council was still developing the neighbourhood plan.

This report was written after the finance and property committee made its
decision in January 2016. Therefore the committee did not have access to any
detailed analysis about potential development opportunity or overage estimates.
The Council also failed to tell the committee that some of Land A had been
identified for development in the draft local plan.

Mr B filed a humber of freedom of information requests about the sale of land A.

In response, the Council provided Mr B with details of bidder 2's escalating bid
and more details of its overage consideration. It explained that “because there
was no development scheme in place or known timeframe for its delivery the uplift
is unquantifiable. Bearing this in mind, a decision to recommend the best value
bid was laken”.

Mr B sent a formal complaint to the Council in June 2016 after receiving all the
information he sought from his freedom of information requests. He remained
dissatisfied with the Council's responses to his queries and said the Council had
failed to secure the best consideration for land A. The Council did not uphold Mr
B’s complaint and directed him to the Ombudsman.

Analysis

When the Council decided to put land A up for sale it did so through its proper
process using the finance and property committee. The committee met, and
decided it should sell land A, after the tenancy renewal date. So although the
terms of sale may not have been convenient for Mr B, he was aware of them at
the time he placed his offer. Therefore, | have found no fault with the Council
about the timing of its decision to serve notice on land A’s tenant. The Council
also followed its constitution when it advertised the land.

Although there were no formal restrictions about escalating bids, accepting such
an offer has resulted in the Council failing to secure the best possible price.
Bidder 2 said they were willing to raise any offer by £1000 up to the value of Y.
Therefore bidder 2 was willing to pay Y for the land. When the Council asked for
best and final offers it should have gone back to bidder 2 and asked what their
final offer was. If the Council had done this | consider that it would have been
more likely than not that bidder 2 would have given Y as their best and final offer.

Mr B submitted his second offer of X+1 after the deadline but before the finance
and property committee, the decision makers, met. It is the Council’s statutory
duty to ensure that it secures the best possible price for the land. Therefore the

Council should have put the late offer in front of the committee, explaining that it
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3.

3z

33.

35.

36,

was late. The committee would then have had the opportunity to weigh up
whether to accept the late bid, taking its statutory responsibilities into account.
The committee should have also had access to the Parish Council's comments
about the sale. Had the Council done this, | consider that it is more likely than not
that the committee would have accepted Mr B'’s late bid. But this does not mean
that Mr B would have been successful because his bid of X+1 was still lower, in
financial terms, than bidder 2's Y offer. It does, however, mean that the Council
would have secured significantly higher amount for the sale of the land.

The Councif gave the property and finance committee details of overage offers
from both parties. But the report to the committee only contained limited details of
potential development for the land. After Mr B’s complained to the Council it
completed a more detailed report about overage which weighed up the potential
financial gain of accepting a higher overage offer. But it should have ensured this
report was completed before the committee met to enable it to reach an informed
decision, not after Mr B complained to the Council.

Mr B complains that the overage report underestimates the value of the land and
contained factually incorrect information. But the Council failed to put this report
before the committee therefore it was not taken into account. But in any event, if it
had been put before the committee, the committee would have been the
appropriate body to scrutinise the content of this report.

Therefore the Council was at fault for failing to properly consider Mr B’s increased
overage offer and failed to secure the best possible price for land A. But | cannot
conclude that had the committee considered this information it would have
approved Mr B’s offer instead of bidder 2’'s. This is because it relates to an
unconfirmed financial value. | do not know how much weight the committee would
have given to the differing overage rates had it had all the relevant information. It
has, however, caused him some uncertainty about whether he would have
secured land A and time and trouble in pursing his complaint.

Mr B states that the Council failed to follow the correct process because of bidder
2's previous professional involvement with the Council. | have not seen any
evidence to support this view. But, because of this, the Council should have taken
special attention to ensure that it followed the correct process. Failure to do so
has caused Mr B some additional uncertainty about the Council’s impartiality
when it made its decision.

Agreed action

In recognition of the faults identified above the Council, within six weeks of my
final decision, has agreed to:

Apologise to Mr B to the uncertainty and time and trouble he has experienced.

Pay Mr B £500 to recognise this uncertainty and time and trouble he has
experienced.

Final decision

The Council failed to secure the best possible price for land it disposed of. It aiso
failed to give the finance and property committee all the information it needed to
make an informed decision. But | cannot conclude that had these faults not
occurred Mr B would have been the successful bidder. It has, however, caused
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him some uncertainty. The Council has agreed to my recommendations and
therefore | have completed my investigation.

Parts of the complaint that | did not investigate

I have not investigated Mr B’s complaint about rental rates because there is no
evidence to suggest that this caused him any injustice.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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30 November 2016

Complaint reference: O M B U DS M A N

15020232

Complaint against:

Local Government

Nottinghamshire County Council

5.

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: There was fault in the way the Council carried out
safeguarding investigations relating to the complainant and his late
sister. The Council has agreed to take action to remedy the
complainant’s injustice.

The complaint

Mr B complains about the Council’s safeguarding investigations into the care
provided {o his late sister. He also complains about a safeguarding investigation
which related to his actions.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

The Ombudsman investigates complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service
failure’. In this statement, | have used the word fault to refer to these. If there has
been fault, the Ombudsman considers whether it has caused an injustice and if it
has, she may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1))

Where we find fault which has caused distress, harm, risk, or another unfair
impact to a person who has died, we will not normally seek a substantive remedy
in the same way as we might for someone who is still living. We would not expect
a public or private body to make a payment that would enrich a person’s estate.

The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong
simply because the complainant disagrees with it. She must consider whether
there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974,
section 34(3))

How | considered this complaint

| have:

considered the complaint and the documents provided by the complainant;
discussed the issues with the complainant;

made enquiries of the Council and considered the comments and documents the
Council has provided; and

given the Council and the complainant the opportunity to comment on my draft
decision.
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What | found

Mr B’s sister, S, moved into a residential care home in February 2014. An incident
at the care home in May 2014 resulted in two safeguarding complaints. Mr B
complained that the way a carer transferred S caused her pain and distress. A
witness to the same incident complained that Mr B had shouted at the carer which
had distressed another service user.

The Council investigated the two safeguarding referrals separately. Initially it told
Mr B that he could not visit S at the care home while it was investigating the
complaint against him. However, after Mr B objected, it agreed that he could
continue to visit S at the care home, but only between 6pm and 8pm in the
evening. The Council told Mr B that it would not allow the carer to work directly
with S while it was carrying out its investigations.

After carrying out some interviews, the Council told Mr B that it would not be
pursuing the safeguarding complaint that had been made about him.

As part of the Council's investigation into the carer’s actions, a social worker
interviewed Mr B and other witnesses. The Council decided that it was not
possible to determine whether the alleged abuse took place or not and it recorded
the outcome as inconclusive.

Two social workers visited Mr B to explain the outcome. They told Mr B that they
had recommended that the carer start working with S again. Mr B was not happy
with this and said he would call the police if he saw the carer working with S. Mr B
asked the social workers to note that no-one had told him that the visiting
restrictions had been lifted when the Council decided not to pursue the complaint
about him.

Mr B says that during the visit, he asked if he could appeal the Council's decision
on the complaint he had made. He says that the Social Worker told him that she

would look into whether he could appeal and wouid let him know. Mr B says that

she did not get back to him.

Following contact from both the Council and Mr B, the care home manager
agreed that the carer would not work directly with S again.

In June 2014, the Council told Mr B that it had received another safeguarding
referral involving a different carer and S. It told Mr B that it had suspended the
carer.

S moved to another care home in QOctober 2014,

In around March 2015, following further contact about the safeguarding complaint
made by Mr B, the Council wrote to Mr B confirming the outcome of its
investigation.

Mr B then made a formal complaint to the Council. He complained that it had not
told him the outcome of the last safeguarding investigation and he did not know if
the carer had been able to return to her position and work with S.

Mr B also complained that the Council had not dealt with his request to appeal its
decision on the safeguarding complaint he made. He said that it had not given
him any information about the safeguarding process.

In the Council's response it said that it had completed the last safeguarding
investigation and had recommended formal disciplinary procedures for the
member of staff. It explained that employment investigations are strictly
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confidential and it could not share the outcome of this with him. It apologised that
it had not told Mr B about the outcome of this safeguarding investigation.

The Council thanked Mr B for raising his concerns and said that it now writes to
all referrers advising of the outcome following face to face feedback. The Council
did not respond to Mr B’s concerns about the lack of information about the
process or his request to appeal the decision.

Mr B was not satisfied with the Council’s response and escalated his complaint.
Two managers from social care and a complaints officer then met with Mr B in
September 2015.

Mr B said that he did not agree with the outcome of the investigation into the
safeguarding complaint he made. He said that he had witnessed the abuse and
considered the investigation was inadequate. He explained his view that the
Council should have stopped the carer from working in communal areas used by
S.

The Team Manager said that the Council had followed the proper safeguarding
procedures and had reached its decision on the balance of probabilities.
However, the Group Manager acknowledged that the investigation should have
recommended that the alleged perpetrator not work in the same bungalow as S
again.

Mr B said that he considered the Council failed to support S or him through the
process. He said that the Council should have given him a leaflet explaining the
safeguarding process and where he could go if he disagreed with the outcome.

The Council wrote to Mr B following the meeting. It confirmed that he could not
appeal the safeguarding decision but he could complain about the process to the
Council's Safeguarding Board. It acknowledged that staff working on the
safeguarding investigations should have given him information about this at the
time and agreed that as an organisation it should provide written information to
families. It agreed to look into what improvements it could make.

It told Mr B that two people were suspended and put through disciplinary
procedures in relation to the last safeguarding referral.

S passed away in January 2016.

The law and government guidance

A council must make necessary enquiries if it has reason to think a person may
be experiencing, or at risk of abuse or neglect and has needs for care and
support which mean he or she cannot protect himself or herself. It must also
decide whether it or another person or agency should take any action to protect
the person from abuse.

The ‘No Secrets’ guidance published by the Department of Health states:

“Information leaflets should be produced in different, user friendly formats for
service users and their carers. These should explain clearly what abuse is and
also how to express concern and make a complaint. Service users and carers
should be informed that their concern or complaint will be taken seriously, be
dealt with independently and that they will be kept informed of the outcome. They
should be reassured that they will receive help and support in taking action on
their own behalf.”

“Whenever a complaint or allegation of abuse is made all agencies should keep

clear and accurate records and eac agsncy should identify procedures for
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incorporating, on receipt of a complaint or allegation, all relevant agency and
service user records into a file to record all action taken.”

“In deciding what action to take, the rights of all people to make choices and take
risks and their capacity to make decisions about arrangements for investigating or
managing the abusive situation should be taken into account.”

Analysis

Mr B says that the Council failed to properly investigate the complaint he made
about abuse that he witnessed. He considers the Council should have interviewed
S. The Council says that it did not interview S in relation to the allegations of
abuse because it considered she lacked capacity. The Investigating Officer's
report states that Mr B told her that S would not have the capacity to engage in an
interview and would be unable to remember the incident or provide information
about it. The report also states that professionals who were supporting S also
said that she would be unable to engage in an interview. They said that S would
be unable to recall the incident which may then in turn cause her increased
confusion and distress. | have found no evidence of fault in the way the Council
reached the decision to not interview S as part of its investigations.

The Investigating Officer’s report states that the alleged perpetrator should not
work with S while she remains at the care home. However, the same officer told
Mr B during the face-to-face meeting that she had recommended that the carer
re-start supporting S. | do not consider the Council's records are clear here. This
is fault.

Mr B considers the Council was wrong to recommend that the carer work with S
again following the safeguarding investigation. The care home manager agreed
that the carer would not work directly with S. However, she still worked in the
same bungalow and so could come into contact with S in communal areas. The
Council has since accepted that the safeguarding investigation should have
recommended that the carer not work in the same bungalow as S again. |
consider this failing caused Mr B unnecessary distress.

| am satisfied that the Council properly investigated Mr B’s safeguarding
complaint. It interviewed Mr B and staff members. | appreciate that Mr B strongly
feels the Council’s ‘inconclusive’ decision is wrong, but | have found no evidence
of fault in the way it was reached.

When it concluded the investigation, the Council failed to write to Mr B with details
of the outcome and its recommendations. This was fault.

When Mr B asked to appeal the Council's decision, it failed to tell Mr B that there
is no right of appeal but that he could complain about the process to the Adults
Safeguarding Board. This was fault and caused Mr B to feel that the Council was
not being open and transparent.

Mr B knew that a safeguarding complaint had also been made about him and that
it related to the same incident. The Council told Mr B that it was not pursuing the
investigation but it did not confirm this to Mr B in writing. This was fault.

The Council did not explain to Mr B why it had restricted the times he could visit
S. The Investigating Officer decided that the restriction should be lifted when she
decided not to pursue the safeguarding investigation. However, the Council failed
to tell Mr B. This was fault and caused Mr B some distress.

Mr B would like the Council to destroy its records relating to the allegation about

him. The Council did not ﬁ%’é%l"glf ct)?a;ltotae allegations were false. | therefore do
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not consider there are grounds to ask the Council to remove details of the
investigation from its records.

The Council records show that it decided to terminate the safeguarding
assessment but do not explain the reason for this decision. This is fault.

When the Council told Mr B that it had received a safeguarding referral involving a
different carer and S, it said that it could not share any details with him, other than
that S was ok and it had suspended the staff member.

The Council did not give Mr B any updates about the investigation. He did not
know the outcome of the investigation or whether the carer had returned to work
with S. The Council should have kept Mr B updated and told him the outcome of
its investigation. This was fault and caused Mr B unnecessary distress.

The Councit did not complete its safeguarding investigation. Instead, it decided to
investigate the alleged abuse through its disciplinary procedures. This was fault. |
do not consider this failing affected Mr B because the alleged perpetrator
remained suspended until after S left the care home.

In response to Mr B’s complaint, the Council told him that two carers were
suspended and put through disciplinary procedures. This is not the case; the
Council suspended one carer and put her through disciplinary procedures. The
Council should not have given Mr B incorrect information. This was fault and
again caused Mr B to feel that the Council was not being open and transparent.

Mr B would like further information about what happened to S and led to the
investigation. The Council is not obliged to provide this information. | have found
no evidence of fault here.

Mr B considers the Council should have told S’s new care home about the
safeguarding investigations so that it could support her appropriately. The Council
says that it did not share this information with the new care home because it did
not consider it needed to know about it. | have found no evidence of fault here.

Mr B considers the Council failed to support S or him through the safeguarding
process. The Council accepts that it should have given Mr B a leaflet explaining
the safeguarding process. It did not provide any written information to Mr B about
the process or where he could get support if he felt he needed it. This was fault.

In the Council’s response to my enquiries, it said that Mr B was advocating for S.
It said that once it was identified that there was conflict, it was recommended that
S be referred for an independent advocate, which is usual practice.

The Council’s policy says:

“Where an adult at risk has substantial difficulty in being involved in the process
and there is no other suitable person to represent and support them, the local
authority must arrange for an independent advocate to represent and support
them.”

The Council should have arranged for an advocate to support S while it was
carrying out the safeguarding investigation. It did not do so until 14 August 2014,
when it had completed the investigation. This was fault.

Agreed action

The Council has agreed to apologise to Mr B for the failings identified in this case.
It has also agreed to review its procedures and take any other necessary steps to
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+ provide a leaflet to individuals involved in a safeguarding complaint which

contains information about the process;
inform service users and referrers of the outcome, in writing;
provide support to service users if necessary;

provide support to referrers or details of where they can get support if they feel
they need it;

keep clear and accurate records detailing all actions taken and when, and the
reasons for its decisions; and

quickly identify whether an advocate is necessary.

Final decision

| have completed my investigation and uphold Mr B’s complaint. There was fault
by the Council which caused injustice to Mr B. The actions the Council has
agreed to take are sufficient to remedy his injustice.

Investigator’s decision on hehalf of the Ombudsman
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01 November 2016

Local Government

Complaint eforonce: OMBUDSMAN

15019 148

Complaint against:

Nottinghamshire County Council

Location of care:

Rose Court Care Home

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: The care provider, acting on behalf of the Council, failed to
act promptly when Mrs H was in pain, and failed to keep proper
records. It was not able to give Mrs B a proper explanation of the way
her mother suffered a serious injury. The Council was already
monitoring the care home. It completed the safeguarding investigation
in accordance with its procedures. However, as the funding authority
it remained responsible for Mrs H's care while she was in the care
home and agrees to offer a payment to Mrs B in acknowledgement of
the distress caused by some poor standards of care.

The complaint

The complainant (whom | shall call Mrs B) complains that the care provider
Embrace, acting on behalf of the Council, was unable to explain how her elderly
mother Mrs H suffered a serious injury while in its care in the residential home
Rose Court. She says the Council was unwilling to move Mrs H to another home
when Mrs B asked.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

The Ombudsman investigates complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service
failure’. In this statement, | have used the word fault to refer to these. She must
also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making
the complaint. | refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused
an injustice, she may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and
26A(1))

How | considered this complaint
| considered all the written information provided by the Council and Mrs B. | spoke

to Mrs B. Both Mrs B and the Council had the opportunity to comment on an
earlier draft of this statement before | reached a final decision.

What | found

Relevant legal background
The Ombudsman has powers to investigate adult social care complaints in both
Part 3 and Part 3A of the Local Government Act 1974. Part 3 covers complaints
Page 27 of 102
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where local councils provide services themselves, or arrange or commission care
services from social care providers, even if the council charges the person
receiving care for the services. The Ombudsman can by law treat the actions of
the care provider as if they were the actions of the council in those cases. (Part 3
and Part 3A Local Government Act 1974; section 25(6) & (7) of the Act}

A council must make necessary enquiries if it has reason to think a person may
be at risk of abuse or negiect and has needs for care and support which mean he
or she cannot protect himself or herself. It must also decide whether it or another
person or agency should take any action to protect the person from abuse or risk.
(section 42, Care Act 2014)

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the statutory regulator of care services. It
keeps a register of care providers who show they meet the fundamental
standards of care, inspects care services and issues reports on its findings. It also
has power to enforce against breaches of fundamental care standards and
prosecute offences.

The CQC issues guidance to care providers on compliance with the fundamental
standards of care (known as the Essential Standards at the time of these events).
Essential Standards says that care providers should comply with the regulations
by ensuring that records about care treatment and support are clear, factual and
accurate. Records should be updated as soon as practicable and kept safe.

Essential Standards also says that staff should quickly recognise when service
users becomes seriously ill and requires treatment, and immediately respond to
meet those needs.

What happened

Mrs H, an elderly lady who suffered with dementia, moved into long term care in
Rose Court in December 2013. The Council partly funded her care. Mrs B, her
daughter who was her main carer before Mrs H moved into the care home, says
she started to have concerns about the standard of care in the care home in early
2014,

The Council's records show Mrs B contacted the Council in March 2014 and
asked if Mrs H could move homes, as she thought her mother needed a nursing
home rather than a residential care home. She said her mother's general
condition and mobility had deteriorated. After an assessment by a district nurse,
the Council told Mrs B that her mother did not need nursing care. However, the
social worker told Mrs B she would arrange a review to address her concerns.

Mrs B contacted the social worker again in April on the advice of the CQC as she
had continuing concerns about the standards of care in the home, and said the
home would not call a GP to Mrs H until she insisted, even though Mrs B had
found bumps on Mrs H’'s head. She said Mrs H had fallen in the home but this
had not been recorded. She said she had arrived at the home to find her mother
in a stupor, with her core temperature very low. The social worker explained how
to raise a safeguarding alert. She also arranged a review of Mrs H's care. The
Council’'s records for 1 May record, “Safeguarding allegation to be investigated by
(safeguarding officer). On-going concerns with the home since management
changes - poor practice/poor care planning/poor nursing oversight/practice”.

The safeguarding strategy discussion record notes that “Given the evidence of

injuries and the on-going poor practice regarding this resident's care, it was

agreed that SAIO [the safeguarding officer] would visit Nursing Home this week
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and undertake an investigation looking at care planning, daily logs,
medical/medication charts and active planning for emerging care needs”.

The notes of the review of Mrs H’s care on 13 May record that an action plan was
drawn up by the home manager in view of Mrs B’s concerns. The notes also
record, “(Mrs B) stated she was happy with the meeting and is prepared to see if
(Mrs H’s) care improves before making a decision to possibly move her.” The
social worker recorded a further call to Mrs B in July, when she recorded that care
had improved and Mrs B said she was happy for Mrs H to remain in the home
now that the long-term manager had returned.

Mrs B says in August she visited her mother to find that staff did not know where
she was. Mrs B says her mother was later found in her room half naked. Mrs B
says she made an informal complaint to the home at the time as she says Mrs H
would never have been able to get herself into that position.

Mrs H’s hospital admission

On 29 August the ambulance service was called out to Mrs H at the home. The
ambulance service made a safeguarding referral to the Council. It said, “Patient
lives in residential home. She complained of chest pain to staff yesterday
evening, they gave her indigestion remedy and then was fine all evening. The
evening staff did not pass the info to the morning staff and the patient was crying
in pain when the morning staff arrived..... On crew’s assessments, she was still
crying in pain, the crew then did an observation on her chest and found a very
large bruise on her chest/sternum and also felt like some crepitus (broken bone
feeling). The patient is fully immobile and will not attempt to get out of bed in
general. The crew stated that even if she were to fall out of the bed it would be
impossible to get an injury like that. The injury is consistent with someone trying
fo do chest compressions as confirmed by the crew/practitioner on scene. Crew
asked the day staff to see if the night staff checked on the patient and may have
performed CPR. The day staff then stated that the night staff did not pass any
details of any significant aclivities.”

The safeguarding referral went on to say that the bruising was likely to have been
caused by a fractured sternum. The Council’s records note a telephone call from
an adult safeguarding nurse at the hospital where Mrs H was admitted, saying
medical staff thought the bruising was one to three days old and had been
caused by “external forces”. The records confirm Mrs H would not return to Rose
Court.

The Council's safeguarding officer visited Rose Court the same day and collected
copies of the daily logs, body maps and charts. She told the social worker there
were no falls logged in the previous week which would explain the injuries.

The safeguarding officer also told the care provider that Mrs H would not return to
Rose Court and the Council was terminating its contract for her with inmediate
effect. Later that day the care provider emailed the Council to say it appeared from
the termination of the placement that blame had already been apportioned. The care
provider said it would accept notice on the usual contractual terms, but added that (with
the sale of her property) Mrs H actually became self-funding from 1 September.

In accordance with the multi-agency safeguarding procedures, the police led the
investigation into Mrs H’s injuries. The Council’s records note a telephone call between
the social worker and a CQC inspector in which she told him that several medical staff
had queried whether the “hand-shaped” bruising on Mrs H’s chest had been caused by an
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attempt at CPR. She told him the care provider said it did not have any records for 28 and
29 August. It said this was because staff did not have the relevant forms to complete.

On 5 September the police interviewed all staff who had been on duty during the
timeframe when the injury might have been caused. The police did not find any new
evidence. The visiting community nurse confirmed to the Council that the care at the
home was generally good although she said the care provider was poor at keeping records
and updating care plans.

Mrs H moved into a nursing home in September.

The orthopaedic evidence obtained during the safeguarding investigation suggested that
the fracture to Mrs H’s sternum could have occurred in the 6 week period before the
bruising showed, and become dislodged on 28 August when Mrs H complained of pain.
The social worker asked the hospital safeguarding nurse in October to check whether Mrs
H’s chest had been x-rayed during a previous admission for a fall in July,

In March 2015 the social worker contacted Mrs B to explain that there had been a
significant delay in obtaining the hospital records, but she said it was now clear that when
Mrs H had fallen in July and been taken to hospital, no chest x-ray had been performed.

The outcome of the safeguarding investigation

The social worker met the care provider at the home in May 2015. She then spoke to Mrs
B. She explained that the outcome of the safeguarding investigation was inconclusive: the
allegations were partially substantiated, as it was deemed there had been “acts of
omission”, but no evidence that wilful neglect had caused the fracture. The social worker
acknowledged how frustrating it was not to be able to identify the incident which had
caused the fracture. She explained to Mrs B that the care provider had been asked to
formally respond in writing to her.

In June the care provider wrote to Mrs B in response to the concerns she had raised. It
said all the lifting equipment at the home was in order and maintained regularly. It said
although the sling used to move Mrs H was not individual to her, it was appropriate for
her and all staff were trained in its use. It went on, “Staff employed at Rose Court Lodge
have not been able to categorically state how (Mrs H) received the injury leading to her
admission to KMH on 29 August 2014. They have been interviewed by the Police in
accordance with safeguarding legislation and the outcome of this investigation was
inconclusive in relation as to how the injury was caused. However, the staff on duty on the
morning of 29 August 2014 were both concerned and upset that there was unidentified
bruising found to Patricia’s chest area and acted accordingly”.

The care provider went on to say that although ambulance and emergency department
staff had made assumptions that the bruising had been caused by attempted COR, this was
“immediately denied” by the senior carer on duty who said it was not company policy to
attempt CPR, and no member of staff would have attempted it. It reiterated that no x-ray
of the chest had been undertaken at the time of Mrs H’s fall in July so it could not rule out
the possibility, as suggested by the orthopaedic consultant, that the fracture occurred then.
The care provider offered unreserved apologies to Mrs H and her family for the distress
caused.

Mrs H sadly died in August 2015
Mrs B remained dissatisfied with the response from the care provider and the cutcome of
the safeguarding investigation and complained to the Ombudsman.

The Council’s response
The manager responsible for elderly residential care said he was unclear why Mrs
H had not been moved whgpdip Bffirgtasked, as he said that was a decision
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usually dictated by families. He points out that the Council would not usually make
a decision to move someone from a care home where there were trusted family
members who could act on the resident’s behalf.

The Council acknowledges there were shortcomings on the part of the care
provider, particularly in respect of record-keeping.

Analysis
It is not possible to say now how the injury to Mrs H occurred. There were
conflicting views even at the time of her hospital admission.

However, there are concerns about Mrs H's care and treatment in the home.
There are no records of Mrs H's care in the two days before her hospital
admission. That is unacceptable, and is a breach of the standards in place at the
time which required clear, accurate and up-to-date recording. The consequence
of the lack of records is that it was not possible to discern whether Mrs H incurred
the injury then, or dislodged an old fracture.

The care provider (acting on behalf of the Council) also failed to call for medical
attention promptly to Mrs H when she was in pain. Again, there are no records
from the home to show why this was so. The safeguarding alert records that Mrs
H was in pain when the morning staff found her, but the night staff had not passed
on any information about her condition despite her pain the previous evening.
That was fault which caused Mrs H injustice.

The safeguarding investigation was conducted promptly but could not find any
conclusive evidence that Mrs H had been the victim of wilful neglect, although the
allegation of acts of omission was partially substantiated.

After it received my draft statement, the Council provided additional details of the
monitoring it was undertaking to secure an improvement in standards at the
home.

There is no evidence that the Council refused to move Mrs H from the home.

Agreed action

The Council remained responsible for Mrs H's care while it funded her placement
and agrees, within one month of this final decision, to apologise to Mrs B for some
poor standards of care and treatment Mrs H received in the home.

The Council agrees to offer a payment of £500 to Mrs B within one month of this
final decision in acknowledgement of the distress caused to her by the knowledge
that harm did happen to Mrs H in the home and that the safeguarding process
identified acts of omission.

Final decision

There was fault on the part of the Council which caused injustice to Mrs H and
Mrs B.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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25 October 2018

Local Government

Complant eference: OMBUDSMAN

16 003 825

Complaint against:

Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman'’s final decision

Summary: There was no fault in the Council's handling of Mr B's
concerns about his children. The Council was at fault for saying in a
letter that it was unaware of one of Mr B’s referrals. That point did not
cause any significant injustice.

The complaint

The complainant, whom I shall refer to as Mr B, complains the Council failed to
take safeguarding action or investigate his referrals about his children’s care.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

The Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice caused by
maladministration and service failure. | have used the word fault to refer to these.
The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council's decision is right or wrong
simply because the complainant disagrees with it. She must consider whether
there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974,
section 34(3))

The Ombudsman provides a free service, but must use public money carefully.
She may decide not to start or continue with an investigation if she believes the
fault has not caused injustice to the person who complained, or the injustice is not
significant enough to justify her involvement. (Locas Government Act 1974, section 24A(6))

How | considered this complaint

| considered the information Mr B provided. The Ombudsman’s office made
written enquiries of the council and | considered the response and relevant
Council records. | gave the Council and Mr B the opportunity to comment on my
draft decision. | propose to share this decision statement with the Office for
Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills {Ofsted).

What | found

Mr B is separated from the mother of his two children. | shall refer to his son as S
and to his daughter as D. The children lived with their mother or her parents at the
time of the events complained of.

Mr B is unhappy with the Council’s handling of points he raised about the
children’s care. He told the Ombudsman he wanted the Council to remove the
children from their mother’s care. Councils can normally only remove children
from a parent if a court orders this. The Ombudsman cannot tell the Council to do

this. The Council decided Mr B’s concerns did not warrant it taking any formal
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child protection action. | can only consider whether the Council properly reached
its decisions. For confidentiality reasons | cannot share much with Mr B about the
details of the Council’s actions here, some of which involve other people or
agencies.

In February 2016, Mr B alleged to the Council that different men had been
present at his ex-partner's home, there had been drug use there and he was
concerned about how this affected his son’s mental health. Mr B also referred to
previous family court proceedings. For confidentiality reasons | cannot go into
detail about what the Council did but | am satisfied it acted on and considered
what Mr B said. The Council decided there were no grounds to take further child
protection action.

| consider the Council properly reached this decision. So, while Mr B can disagree
with the Council's decision, | cannot criticise that decision, as paragraph 2
explained.

On 22 April 2016, Mr B told the Council he was concerned S had acted in a
sexually inappropriate way towards D and that S had viewed pornography. Mr B
had also told the police this. Mr B stated he had been told about both these
incidents three or four months earlier.

| am satisfied the Council considered and acted on this, including speaking to S’s
mother. The Council concluded it would do some work with S about his having
viewed pornography but beyond that no further child protection action was
needed.

| consider the Council reached this decision properly in the circumstances. So |
shall not pursue this point any further.

On 29 April 2016 Mr B made another referral to the Council, making the same
points as in his previous two referrals. The Council decided there was nothing
new in those points. | see no fault in that, as far as it went.

On 3 May 2016 Mr B contacted the Council again, reporting D had been swearing
recently, including racist language. He alleged his ex-partner had admitted
teaching D to swear. The Council said it would add this to the referral Mr B had
made on 29 April. On § May Mr B reiterated to the Council by telephone that D
had sworn and made a racist comment, which Mr B suggested could be
connected to views he believed his ex-partner's new partner held.

The Council's records show the Council took action on this report and concluded
there were no safeguarding concerns so no need for further child protection
action. | am satisfied this was a decision the Council was entitled to make and
was properly reached. The behaviour Mr B described was obviously very
undesirable but the Council is entitled to consider it is not actually a child
protection matter.

However, the Council's response to Mr B’s complaint on 14 June 2016 said it
could find no reference to allegations of racist language in Mr B’s referrals of 22
and 28 April. | consider this was fault as the Council's own records said it would
add this point to the referral of 29 April. However, | am satisfied the Council had
considered this allegation, as | explained above. The inaccurate complaint
response seems to have resulted from different officers not knowing what each
other had done.

In addition, the Council’s response to the complaint said that, although racist

language is wrong, this would not be a child protection matter meriting Council
Page 34 of 102

Final decision 2



17.

19.

20.

21.

involvement and Mr B could instead discuss it with his ex-partner and the school.
There is no fault in that. So, while the Council’s fault in stating it could not trace
the allegation of racist language could have caused Mr B some frustration, | do
not consider it caused a significant injustice because the Council dealt with the
underlying matter, which was not going to trigger child protection action anyway.

Other concerns Mr B raised
Mr B has suggested the Council was involved in S's moving from his mother’s
home to live with his grandparents. | have seen no evidence of that.

Mr B’s formal complaint to the Council included that a Council officer had not
returned his telephone calls or did not do so promptly enough. The Coungil
disputes this. Anyway | do not consider this point disadvantaged Mr B significantly
enough for me to pursue it.

Mr B’s complaints also asked the Council whether a social worker had been
working with his ex-partner and children. Even within a family, people are not
necessarily entitled to know the answer to such questions about other people. So
| have not considered this point further.

In June 2016 Mr B asked the Council for help visiting his son, including for a
social worker to accompany him. The Council declined, saying this was not the
role of social workers as the Council had no child protection involvement and if Mr
B had any safeguarding concerns he could report them to the Council. | see no
fault here.

Final decision

I have not found fault by the Council on the substantive points of the complaint.
There was some fault as paragraph 15 described but this did not cause any
significant injustice. So | have ended my investigation.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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12 September 2016 Local Government

Complaint rference: OMBUDSMAN

15 020 802

Complaint against:
Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: The Council was at fault by failing to communicate with Ms
B over her disabled son’s care, involving a safeguarding concern, a
core assessment and a review, and arrangements for his transition to
18+ education. It also delayed providing a personal budget to cover
the cost of paying a driver to take her son to and from school.

The complaint

The complainant, whom | shall refer toc as Ms B, complained that there had been
faults in the way the Council’s Children’s Disability Services Team dealt with her
son. These included a safeguarding concern, transition to a new school, a core
assessment and a request to provide a direct payment for his transport to school.

The Ombudsman'’s role and powers

2. The Ombudsman investigates complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service
failure’. In this statement, | have used the word fault to refer to these. She must
also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making
the complaint or who is the subject of the complaint. | refer to this as ‘injustice’. If
there has been fault which has caused an injustice, she may suggest a remedy.
{Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1))

How | considered this complaint

s. | have taken account of Ms B’s complaint to the Council and its letters in response
to the complaint. | also studied a copy of the minutes of a meeting attended by Ms
B with two managers from the service and a complaint officer in October 2015.

2. examined the details of the Council’s initial assessment and then its core
assessment carried out on Ms B’s son (who | shall refer to as C.)

s. | sent copies of a statement setting out my provisional decision to Ms B and the
Council and | invited them to comment. As a resuit of Ms B'’s reply | then asked
the Council for additional information which | considered fully before reaching my
final decision.

What | found

s. Cis now 18 years old. The events of the complaint all took place before he
reached his eighteenth birthday. He has a learning disability and a
psychological/eating disorder and he finds it difficult to communicate clearly. He
often expresses himself by drawing pictures and trying to explain them.
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During early 2015 C was in year 12 at his school. Ms B did not believe the school
was by then able to meet C’s needs and staff did not understand his medical
disorder. She had applied for a place at a nearby college (College H) which has a
unit for people suffering from the particular disorder. C had been attending
College H once a week whilst in year 12, along with some other students from his
year group.

The safeguarding issue

C had previously alleged that another boy had touched him inappropriately in
school towards the end of 2013. There was no conclusive evidence to prove the
allegation but staff said they had made sure the two boys were never left alone
together after that. In December 2014 C attended a learning day at College H.
The other boy also attended and the Council said both boys were closely
supervised by teaching assistants all day. C later complained that the other boy
had again touched him in his genital area. The teaching assistants were
interviewed as part of an internal school investigation. They both reported they felt
this would have been impossible as both boys were closely supervised
throughout the visit.

Later, during a session with a teaching assistant, C produced some drawings and
said they showed what had happened to him during the college visit. Ms B also
said he told her about the incident whilst having a bath at home. The Council's
officers and the school staff remained unsure whether the incident did occur or
whether C was drawing on his memories of the original incident. It is clear there
was no other evidence available to either prove or disprove C's allegations.

As a result of the allegation C was referred to a multi-agency safeguarding hub
and a social worker carried out an initial assessment and a core assessment. Ms
B had not seen these until she attended a meeting with Children’s Disability
Service Managers in October 2015. Ms B believed the safeguarding investigation
had been shoddy and incomplete as the teaching assistant involved in the
drawing session had not been interviewed by the Council. The manager
responsible for C’s care services apologised to Ms B for the failure to provide her
with the assessments.

The Council can initiate an investigation under section 47 of the Children Act
1989 if it believes a child may be at risk of significant harm. In this case the
Council did not do this. It was aware of one confirmed incident in the past when C
had been improperly touched and a second, uncorroborated incident. The Council
was satisfied the school had taken action to keep C and the other boy apart and
the risk of a further such incident was thought to be highly unlikely. The Council
could have carried out an investigation but it was satisfied by the school's own
investigation that C was not at risk of ongoing harm. On that basis the decision
not to go ahead with a section 47 investigation was based on professional
judgement and | do not question it.

Lack of communication over C’s transition to College H

The Council accepted that this had been the case. It was the result of staffing
shortages within the service. The manager apologised for this failing and said C
had not had regular or effective reviews of his case. She confirmed he should
have had a Child in Need Review twice a year after which revised plans should
have been put in place. She accepted the department should have been working
closely with Ms C and helped more with his transition to 18+ education.
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Ms B said she had made an enquiry about taxi costs to take C to school but
nobody responded. She was anxious that C did not have to move into residential
care and sought a review of a direct payment to her on C’s behalf,

Failure to carry out a core assessment for C

The Council accepted this should have been done sooner than it was. Ms B was
given a copy of the assessment during the meeting in October 2015.

Direct payment for C’s transport to school

C was taken to and from school by taxi which was paid for by the Council. The
Council changed the contract to another taxi firm and C did not know the new
driver so he refused to travel in the taxi. Ms B asked the Council to consider
providing C with a personal budget which would cover the cost of employing their
own driver. The Council accepts it did not respond to that request at the time.

Ms B or her mother then had to drive C to and from school. This caused them
inconvenience and they had to pay for their own fuel. Ms B asked the Council to
repay £2100 to cover what it would have cost them to employ a driver over a 14
week period. The Council refused this request as they had not actually paid
anyone. Instead it offered £560 to cover the cost of fuel they had used.

Following this the Council did award C a personal budget and Ms B now employs
a driver to take and collect C each day.

Fault and injustice

Following C's allegation that he had been inappropriately touched by another
student, the Council did not communicate well with Ms B and took too long to
provide her with the assessment reports that were produced in response to the
incident. The Council apologised for this and provided Ms B with the relevant
report.

The Council accepted it failed to communicate with Ms B over C's intended
transition to 18+ education. It also failed to carry out regular or effective reviews
including a Child in Need Review, which should have led to a revision of C’s
plans. Ms B was anxious at that time that C might have to move into residential
care and the Council could have done more to resolve those concerns.

The Council did not respond to Ms B'’s request for a personal budget to cover C's
transport costs. This led to her and her mother transporting him to school at their
own cost. C was later allocated a personal budget and it is reasonable to assume
this would have happened sooner if the Council had responded to the request.
The Council accepted this was fault and offered Ms B £560, representing the cost
of her fuel over the 14 weeks in question.

Agreed action

| am satisfied that Ms B’s request to be paid £2100 was not based on any actual
financial loss and ! do not support the request. | regard the offer to pay £560 to
cover the cost of fuel used to take C to school as a fair offer.

The Council has also agreed to offer Ms B the additional sum of £200 to address
her inconvenience, her frustration at not receiving information she should have
been sent, and her time and trouble in pursuing the matter.
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Final decision

The Council was at fauit through poor communication relating to C’s care and
failing to send information to Mrs B at the correct times. It also delayed carrying
out C’s Child in Need Review and agreeing to give him a personal budget for
transport which caused injustice to his mother, Ms B.

It has made a fair offer to cover her fuel costs and apologised to Ms B for its
failings. | believe this, together with the additional agreed payment of £200, will
provide a fair and proportionate remedy for the complaint.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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17 August 2016

Local Government

Compiaint reference: OMBUDSMAN

15016 837

Complaint against:

Nettinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: The Council is at fault as it wrongly told Mr X that it would exclude
bids for a contract on turnover alone. As a result Mr X was caused some
uncertainty which the Council has agreed to remedy.

The complaint

Mr X has complained that the Council wrongly excluded him from bidding for a
contract on the past turnover of his company.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

The Ombudsman investigates complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service
failure’. In this statement, | have used the word fault to refer to these. She must
also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making
the complaint. | refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused
an injustice, she may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and
26A(1))

How | considered this complaint
| have:

considered the complaint and the information provided by Mr X;
discussed the issues with Mr X;

made enquiries of the Council and considered the information provided;
invited Mr X and the Council to comment on the draft decision.

What | found

In 2015 the Council commenced a tender process for the maintenance of a
website. The Council’s invitation to tender (ITT) included qualifying criteria to
enable the Council to assess the suitability of a bidder to provide the contract.
The criteria was of a pass/fail nature. The ITT states that a fail in one or more of
the criteria would provide grounds for exclusion from further consideration.

One criterion stated:

“The estimated value of the contract should not exceed 50% of the average
turnover of the company or organisalion as determined from their financial
accounts for the last two years. If accounts or other relevant information is not
available and or concerns remain over financial liability that cannot be reasonably
satisfied then it is likely you will fail. Third parly credit checks will also be

undertaken as part of a ﬁggrécéiﬂ ?%ﬁefésénent. A poor credit rating which scores 3
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or more in a Dunn & Bradstreet check may lead to further clarification that may
result in a fail.”

The tender process included a clarification stage during which potential bidders
could request clarification on the ITT. The Council sent question and answer
sheets to potential bidders so they could see the questions asked and the
Council's response.

A potential bidder asked for details of the estimated value of the contract and
whether the Council would consider bids from suitably qualified providers who
might submit a significantly competitive bid. The Council's reply was:

' we assume you are asking with reference to financial turnover. The
turnover is passfail.’

Mr X questioned if the Council was able to request that the estimated value of the
contract should not exceed 50% of a company’s turnover as he considered this
was contrary to Government guidance. The guidance states that turnover may be
a useful indicator of capacity but issues of financial position, capacity and
capability should also be considered. It also states that authorities should not
impose arbitrary minimum requirements which may have the unintended
consequence of preventing new businesses from bidding.

The Council said it did not consider the turnover criterion to be unreasonable as
the estimated value of the contract was fairly low. The Council also said:

‘if this criteria is not meft the bidder will fail this element and nol be
considered’

In response to a further clarification from Mr X, the Council told him that his
turnover would need to be twice the three year value of the contract price he bid.

Mr X did not submit a bid for the contract as he considered his company would be
excluded on turnover. He made a complaint to the Council about its decision to
set the turnover criterion.

The Councit did not uphold Mr X’s complaint. The government regulations for
contracts allow councils to impose a minimum turnover criterion but this must not
exceed twice the estimated contract value. The Council considered it could
impose the minimum turnover criterion as it did not exceed twice the estimated
value of the contract.

In response to my enquiries the Council has said it did not reject bids based on
turnover alone so it acted in accordance with the Government guidance. The
Council conducts financial assessments of suppliers The Council has
acknowledged that there may have been some miscommunication in the
clarifications which focussed on turnover.

Mr X has provided evidence to show the contract has now been let.

My assessment

The Council informed Mr X during the clarification process that his bid would fail if
he did not meet the turnover criterion. This information was incomplete as the
Council did not intend to reject bids on turnover alone. This is fault. Mr X could
have submitted a bid. However, the incomplete information provided by the
Council may have discouraged him from doing so.

Mr X says he has suffered a loss as a result of the Council’s fault as he considers
on the balance of probabilities that he would have won the contract. He is seeking
a remedy based on the spgyef e yoplshave bid for the contract. This is not an
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appropriate remedy. This is because | cannot know, on balance, if Mr X would
have won the contract if he had submitted a bid. But Mr X will never know so the
fault has caused him some uncertainty which the Council should remedy.

Agreed action

That the Council makes a payment of £500 to Mr X to acknowledge the
uncertainty caused to him by the provision of incomplete information suggesting
it would exclude bids for a contract on turnover alone.

Final decision

The Council is at fault as it wrongly told Mr X that it would exclude bids for a
contract on turnover alone. As a result Mr X was caused some uncertainty which
the Council has agreed to remedy by making a payment of £500 to Mr X. This is
an appropriate and proportionate remedy for Mr X’s complaint so | have
completed my investigation.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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4 August 2016 Locat Government

Complaint raference: OMBUDSMAN

15 020 183

Complaint against:
Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: the Council was not at fault for how it assessed Mr B and
his wife as carers for their grandson. However, the Council failed to
respond to proposals from family members, failed to arrange a family
group conference and failed to involve Mr B in meetings. An apology
and changes to procedures is satisfactory remedy for the injustice
caused.

The complaint

1. The complainant, whom ! shall refer to as Mr B, complained about the way the
Council dealt with care proceedings for his grandson. Mr B complained the
Council:

» failed to properly consider him and his wife as carers for his grandson;

+ relied on inaccurate social work records when deciding he and his wife were not
suitable carers for his grandson;

« failed to consider proposals from his son and elder daughter to enable his
grandson to remain in his care;

» failed to conduct a family group conference; and
- failed to properly communicate with him or his wife or involve them in meetings.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

2. The Ombudsman investigates complaints of fault where someone says it has
caused them injustice. If the Ombudsman finds fault but no injustice, she will not
ask a Council to provide a remedy. If she finds both fault and injustice, she may
ask for a remedy. She can consider the way an authority makes its decisions, but
it is not her role to comment on them unless they have been taken with fault. (Locar
Government Act 1974, sections 26(1), 26A(1) and 14(3})

5. The Ombudsman cannot investigate a complaint about the start of court action or
what happened in court. (Local Government Act 1974, Schedule 5/5A, paragraph 1/3)

How | considered this complaint
As part of the investigation, | have:

* considered the complaint and Mr B's comments;

* made enquiries of the Council and considered the comments and documents the
Council provided;
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« considered Mr B's comments on my draft decision; and
= considered the Council's comments on my draft decision.

What | found

Background

The Council received a referral in October 2014 about Mr B’s daughter allegedly
staying in a property with her son where drugs were being taken. Mr B says at the
time his daughter and grandson were living with him and his wife. Mr B and his
wife had also recently been diagnosed with cancer.

Following Mr B’s daughter being arrested for drug use while caring for her son the
Council decided it was not safe for the child to remain with his mother. As the
Council had concerns about whether Mr B and his wife could prioritise their
grandson over their daughter the Council placed the child with Mr B’s son. When
that arrangement could no longer continue the Council placed the child in foster
care, pending court proceedings to consider his future.

The Council completed a viability assessment on Mr B and his wife as well as
assessments of Mr B’s daughter and the child's father. The viability assessment
for Mr B and his wife was negative. The assessment of Mr B's daughter was also
negative. However, the assessment of the father of the child was positive. The
child moved in with his father in July 2015, at the end of court proceedings.

Analysis

| have found no evidence to suggest the Council failed to properly consider Mr B
and his wife as carers for his grandson. Once the Council had decided Mr B’s
grandson coulid not be returned to his mother’s care the Council began the
process of assessing those who could potentially care for the child. That included
assessments of the child’s father and partner as well as viability assessments for
Mr B and his wife. | understand Mr B believes the Council did not properly
consider him due to what it included in the viability assessment. Mr B says prior to
the viability assessment the Council had referred to him and his wife as a
stabilising influence. He says despite that the viability report completed for the
court made assumptions about their ability to care for their grandchild and ignored
medical evidence. As | said in paragraph 3, the Ombudsman does not have
jurisdiction to consider matters which have been adjudicated on by a court. |
understand the report Mr B is concerned about is the viability assessment which
was presented to the court. If Mr B had concerns about the contents of that report
and its accuracy he would have needed to address those points in court. |
therefore cannot comment on the contents of the report.

| am aware though when the Council decided Mr B’s grandson could no longer
remain in his mother’s care it did not place him temporarily with Mr B and his wife.
| understand Mr B’s concern about that given his daughter and grandson had
lived with him for some time. However, the documentary records show social
workers had concerns about whether Mr B and his wife could prioritise their
grandson ahead of their daughter and adequately protect him. | understand Mr B
strongly disagrees with that view. However, as | said in paragraph 2, it is not my
role to comment on an officer's judgement. As the social work records contain
concerns about placing the child with Mr B and his wife prior to court proceedings
| cannot criticise the Council for seeking an alternative placement while it
conducted its enquiries.
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Nor can | criticise the Council for not completing a new assessment when Mr B’s
wife died in May 2015. By that point the Council had already completed a viability
assessment of Mr B and his wife which was negative. In addition, the Council had
completed an assessment of the father and that assessment was positive. In
addition, Mr B's grandson had expressed a wish to live with his father. Given
court proceedings were already advanced and the assessment showed concerns
relating to Mr B’s ability to protect his grandson, as well as concerns about his
wife, | do not criticise the Council for not starting the process again.

Mr B has some concerns about the content of the viability assessment. In
particular, Mr B says the assessment presents opinion from other people as if it is
fact and also misquotes him. Mr B says the Council has done that to undermine
its assessment of him. While | understand Mr B’s concern, the viability report was
completed for court proceedings. Had Mr B wanted to challenge the contents of
the viability assessment he would have needed to do so in court. As that is the
case | cannot comment on Mr B’s concerns about the report completed for court
proceedings.

The situation is different in relation to the social work recordings though. Mr B
says those social work records are inaccurate, particularly where they refer to
concerns Mr B was colluding with his daughter. Mr B says that is not accurate
because that concern was in relation to his wife, rather than Mr B. | understand
Mr B’s concern. There are more references in the social work records to concerns
about Mr B’s wife colluding with her daughter than to Mr B colluding. However,
there are also references to Mr B colluding with his daughter. In addition, the
social work records show social workers had concerns about Mr B's ability to
prioritise his grandson over his daughter. | know Mr B disagrees with some of
those judgements. However, it is not my role to comment on an officer’s
judgement.

Mr B says the Council claimed it had a set deadiine to return his grandson to his
son’s care on 19 January 2015 when that is not the case. On that day the Council
says a social worker arrived at school to collect the child only to find Mr B and his
daughter already there, intending to take the child to a GP appointment. Mr B
says that is incorrect and he went to the school to resolve an impasse between
his daughter and the social worker. At that time the child was in the care of the
uncle due to concerns about Mr B’s daughter’s activities. Having considered the
documentary records there is nothing to suggest the Council said it had provided
Mr B with a set deadline to return his grandson. However, it is clear from the
documentary records the Council had not expected anyone to collect the child for
his GP appointment on the day in question. It is also clear the social worker was
in regular contact with Mr B asking him to return the child to the uncle’s house. As
| have seen no evidence to suggest the Council has described what happened in
terms of when the child shouid be returned to his uncle’s care any differently to
what is supported by the documentary records | have no grounds to criticise it.

Mr B says the Council failed to consider proposals from his son and elder
daughter which would have allowed his grandson to stay in the care of his
maternal family. Mr B says that proposal would have meant the least disruption
for his grandson. The Council admits it failed to respond to those proposals. That
is fault. | could not say if the Council had replied to those proposals it would have
resulted in a different cutcome though. That is because the Council already had
concerns about whether it was appropriate to place the child in his grandparents’
care. In addition, both Mr B’s son and his elder daughter had said they could not
provide long term care toﬁté% ghild. A well as that, the Council would have had to
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consider whether to place the child with his father. Nevertheless, the Council
should have responded to the proposal and explained why it did not consider it a
viable option. Failure to do that is fault. | understand why, in those circumstances,
Mr B may have felt the Council had already made up its mind. However, as | have
made clear, the evidence | have seen satisfies me the Council already had
concerns about placing the child in his grandparents’ care by that point.

Mr B’s elder daughter had also asked the Council to arrange a family group
conference. | understand that is something social workers had told Mr B would
take place. The Council accepts it should have considered whether a family group
conference was necessary. Failure to do that is fault. Again though, I could not
say that would have resulted in a different outcome given the Council's concerns
about placing the child in the grandparents’ care.

Mr B says the Council failed to share information with him about the nature of its
concerns. Mr B says because the Counci! did not share full information he did not
properly understand the Council’'s concerns and may therefore have appeared
uncooperative. | understand Mr B’s point. However, at the outset of the
investigation the Council only had an allegation about Mr B’s daughter. It had no
information at that point other than the referral. The information the Council had
was specific to Mr B's daughter and it was for the Council to decide how much
information it could share about that without breaching the Data Protection Act. In
this case it is clear limited information was given on the first contact. On balance |
do not criticise the Council for that because it was still investigating and had not
established where Mr B’s daughter and her child lived. Consequently the Council
was not in a position at that point to establish whether it needed to share
information with the grandparents’ to prevent any harm to a child.

| am satisfied though that when the Council visited Mr B's address on 13
November 2014 to discuss matters with his daughter, Mr B and his wife were
present. Mr B does not recall such a visit but the notes from that discussion
record Mr B’s wife interjected during discussion about the Council’s concerns. |
am therefore satisfied the Council shared more information at that point.

| am aware Mr B is also concerned about documentation not being shared with
him. Again though, the Council has to comply with the Data Protection Act. | am
satisfied the Council shared the detailed assessments once the court gave it
permission to do so. | therefore do not criticise the Council here.

| agree with the stage two investigator though that Mr B and his wife should have
been invited to meetings about their grandson. Mr B and his wife were clearly
significant family members in their grandson’s life and could have provided
relevant information to the meetings which took place. The Council is therefore at
fault for not inviting them, although | am aware Mr B attended some meetings of
his own volition.

Agreed action
the Council has:

apologised for the failure to respond to his son and eldest daughter’s
correspondence;

apologised for failing to undertake a family group conference when it had
undertaken to do so;

apologised for the failure to invite Mr B to looked after child reviews;
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+ agreed to remind staff of their duty to make records of all contacts on a live case

and ensure response letters are sent within 10 working days; and

agreed to review its policy and practice on family group conferences to ensure it
acts in accordance with government guidance.

| consider the action the Council proposes to take a reasonable outcome for the
complaint. That is on the basis of my view that it is unlikely, on the balance of
probability, the outcome would have been different had the fault identified not
occurred.

Final decision

| have completed my investigation and found fault by the Council in part of the
complaint which caused injustice to Mr B. Although Mr B does not agree with my
decision | am satisfied the action the Council will take is sufficient to remedy his
injustice.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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22 July 2016 Local Government

Complaint referonce: OMBUDSMAN

15 017 364

Complaint against:
Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: Mr C complained the care provider left his daughter alone
at home unsupervised on one occasion. The care provider's
complaint investigation found there was fault, which had resulted in an
injustice to Ms D and her parents. | found that the apology that Mr C
received was an appropriate remedy for the injustice.

The complaint

1. The complainant, whom | shall call Mr C, complains that a care worker from the
care agency the Council commissioned, put his daughter (and his property /
belongings) at great risk. in July 2015, he and his wife had been unable to return
home on time. They arrived five minutes late and saw the care worker had
already left. The door was uniocked and she had left their daughter alone and
unsupervised. Mr C says he wants the Council to pay a financial remedy for the
distress he and his daughter suffered because of this incident, as anything could
have happened.

2. Mr Cis also unhappy the care provider discontinued his complaint even though
he had not reached the end of the complaints procedure yet.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

3. The Ombudsman investigates complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service
failure’. In this statement, | have used the word fault to refer to these. She must
also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making
the complaint. | refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused
an injustice, she may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1)
and 26A(1))

How | considered this complaint

+. | considered the information | received from Mr C and the Council. | shared a
copy of my draft decision with Mr C, the Council and the Care Provider and
considered any comments | received before | made my final decision.

What | found

5. The Council commissioned the care provider to provide support to Mr C's
daughter, whom | shall call Ms D. As part of this, Ms D receives a few hours of
respite care once every four weeks. This enables Mr C and his wife to have a
break from their caring duties. However, on this particular occasion, Mr and Ms C
had been unable to return home on time. Even though they only arrived five
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minutes late, the care worker had already left. The care worker had left his
daughter unsupervised in an unlocked property, even though she needs constant
supervision. His daughter has the mental age of an eight year old and was in
tears when they arrived home.

In its response to Mr C’s complaint, the care provider admitted it had been at
fault. It explained the care plan and the written instructions for the care workers
were inadequate as it does not say that Ms D should be supervised at all times. It
said the referral information and risk assessment information it received from the
Council did not refer to this. Nevertheless, the care provider acknowledged it
should have ensured that enough instructions and risk assessments were in place
for staff to follow, as soon as it agreed to deliver the support. It also told Mr C
about the action it has undertaken to avoid a similar even from happening again.

Mr C told me his wife had told the care worker not to leave their daughter on their
own.

The Council says that Ms D’s needs are recorded in the assessment and support
plan. The assessment and support plan completed in early 2015 clearly state all
the risks related to Ms D. Although not mentioned specifically, the Council says
these clearly indicate Ms D needs continual oversight. However, it accepts the
communication between the Council and the care provider about Ms D’s care
package was at times confusing. The outcome of the investigation was that the
care provider left Ms D at risk and the allegation was substantiated, because her
risks were not managed when the care worker left.

Mr C told me he was also unhappy with the way the care provider handled his
complaint. He says that he never agreed to discontinue his complaint, as
maintained by the care provider. Mr C told me the care provider tried to organise
a meeting with him. As such, Mr C says he asked the care provider in an email on
13 January 2016 to confirm if their meeting would be at his home or somewhere
else. However, he never received a response to this.

The care provider sent a letter to Mr C on 14 December 2015. It says that: “This is
a nofe to follow up on our telephone conversation on Friday 4 December 2015.
You advised me at that time that you do nof wish to pursue your original
complaint. Therefore in accordance with our policy if | do not hear from you within
the next 7 days | will close the complaint”.

Mr C sent a copy to me of the email he sent on 13 January 2016. However, there
was a small error in the email address he used, which is why the care provider
never received it.

Mr C told me that he was also unhappy that, when he wanted to bring his
complaint to the Council, it told him in February 2016 that it cannot investigate his
complaint, because its policy says that it will ask the concerned care provider to
investigate and provide a response.

The Council told me that, when it receives a complaint about a care provider it
has commissioned, it will ask the care provider to investigate it. However, the care
provider had already carried out two investigations (stage 1 and stage 2) and had
offered Mr C to escalate it to stage 3, if he remained unsatisfied. The Council
therefore refused to accept the complaint, because it appeared it had already
been appropriately dealt with by the care provider. The Council also told Mr C in
its response about the LGO.
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Assessment

The Council and the care home had already acknowledged there were
shortcomings with regards to the communication between them, in this particular
case. In addition, although the risks identified in the support plan indicate Ms D’s
need for continual oversight, it would have been better if it had specified that Ms
D should be supervised at all times and not be left alone.

When there has been fault, as there has been in this case, the remedy that
should be offered to the complainant should be for the actual injustice the
complainant(s) suffered; it should not be for anything that could have happened.
In this case, the injustice caused to Ms D was that she became distressed when
she was left alone. The incident also caused distress to her parents. | found that
the apology that was provided was an appropriate remedy for the injustice Ms D
and her parents suffered.

| did not uphold Mr C’s complaint about the way in which the care provider and
the Council dealt with Mr C’s complaint. However, legislation in relation to
complaints about adult social care that is provided (or commissioned) by councils,
indicates there should only be one investigation into compiaints (i.e. one stage).
This was not the case with regards to Mr C's complaint as the care provider has a
three stage process. The Council therefore needs to ensure that adult social care
providers only carry out one thorough investigation, when the complaint is about
care commissioned by the Council.

Agreed action

| recommended the Council should ensure that the care providers it uses carry
out only one thorough investigation, when the complaint is about care
commissioned by the Council, after which it should inform the complainant of their
right to refer the complaint to the Ombudsman.

The Council has accepted my recommendation.

Final decision

For the reasons mentioned above, there was fault that resulted in an injustice to
Ms D and her parents, which has been appropriately remedied through an
apology. The Council has accepted my recommendation and | have therefore
closed the complaint.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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16 May 2016

Local Government

Complaint eforence: OMBUDSMAN

15 004 855

Complaint against:

Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: there is no fault in how the Council dealt with a discharge
from hospital. Documentation for a care assessment was inadequate.
An agreement to ensure care assessments record the Council's
reasoning is satisfactory remedy for the injustice caused.

The complaint
The complainant, whom | shall refer to as Mrs B, complained the Council:

reduced her aunt's direct payments, resulting in her aunt falling and breaking her
ankle;

failed to consider her appeal against the reduction in care;
forced her aunt to go into a care home;

* told her aunt the stay would be short term and then closed the file.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

The Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice caused by fault. She can
consider the way an authority makes its decisions, but it is not her role to
comment on them unless they have been taken with fault. (Local Government Act 1974,
section 34(3)

How | considered this complaint
As part of the investigation, | have:

considered the complaint and Mrs B's comments;

made enquiries of the Council and considered the comments and documents the
Council provided

considered Mrs B’s comments on my draft decisions;
gave the Council an opportunity to comment on my draft decisions; and
interviewed the officers that carried out the May 2014 assessment.

What | found

Chronology of the main events

In March 2013 the Council assessed Mrs B's aunt as requiring 44.7 hours care
per week. In March 2014 the Council carried out a review which assessed Mrs B’s
aunt as requiring 31.75 hours per week. The new care package was to start on 25
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Mrs B put in an appeal and the Council carried out a review at the end of May
2014. At that point the Council increased the care provision to cover 33 hours 30
minutes per week. That began on 28 July.

On 18 January 2015 Mrs B’s aunt was admitted to hospital following a fall.

A Council social worker visited Mrs B’s aunt in hospital on 21 January Mrs B's
aunt said she did not think she would manage at home and preferred a short-term
placement in her area. | will refer to that as placement A.

On 22 January the Council social worker met with Mrs B’s aunt and family
members at the hospital. Mrs B's aunt agreed to go into short-term care. Mrs B’s
aunt asked about how to pay for that care on 26 January. A Council social worker
explained the Council would carry out a financial assessment.

On 27 January the hospital discharged Mrs B's aunt to a care home, which | will
refer to as placement B. The Council could not place Mrs B’s aunt in placement A
as there were no places available.

On 30 January a family member contacted the Council to say Mrs B’s aunt
wanted to return home and needed more support. The Council later reassured the
family the case was not closed and Mrs B’s aunt would be allocated a worker to
arrange any additional support so Mrs B’s aunt could return home.

A social worker contacted Mrs B’s aunt on 5 February to arrange the review. Mrs
B’s aunt said she wanted her son and Mrs B present. The social worker agreed
to contact them to arrange the review.

The social worker contacted Mrs B on 9 and 11 February. Mrs B agreed to a
meeting on 25 February.

At the meeting on 25 February Mrs B’s aunt said she wanted to return home as
soon as possible. On 26 February the Council told Mrs B the assessment was for
around 40 hours per week. Mrs B reluctantly accepted the 40 hours per week
care package. Mrs B’s aunt returned home on 28 February.

Analysis

| understand Mrs B’s concern about the removal of overnight support for her aunt
when both the 2013 assessment and March 2014 assessment referred to her as
having critical needs for overnight care. The Council cannot explain why that is
the case as the social worker who completed the 2014 assessment has now left
the Council's employment. | do not consider that acceptable. The Council should
have kept records to show the social worker's reasoning for not awarding
overnight care in 2014. Failure to make clear in the assessment why overnight
care had not been awarded is fault.

| am, however, satisfied the March 2014 assessment was reviewed in May 2014.
That reviewing officer did not consider it necessary to award overnight care. As
that review was completed within a short period of the March 2014 review |
consider it unlikely the situation would have been significantly different in March
2014. So, while | understand Mrs B strongly disagrees with the Council's
assessment that her aunt did not require overnight care in 2014 | cannot criticise
the Council for reaching that view. That is because, as | said in paragraph 2, it is
not my role to comment on the merits of the Council's decisions. The Council
decided Mrs B’s aunt did not quaiify for overnight care in 2014 after carrying out a
proper assessment. It is not my role to comment on the merits of that
assessment, no matter how much Mrs B disagrees with it. | recommend though
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the Council ensure care assessments record an officer's reasoning for not
awarding support for something identified as a critical need in the assessment.

| understand why Mrs B would consider overnight care necessary given her aunt
had a fall during the night in January 2015. | understand why Mrs B believes that
would not have happened if her aunt's assessment had included provision for
overnight care. However, | cannot speculate about that. The point is that even
with the 2013 assessment Mrs B's aunt was not assessed as requiring support
throughout the night every night. So, it is possible that even if the Council had
awarded three nights overnight care this would not have prevented the fall in
January 2015. | recognise Mrs B believes the Council should award significantly
more hours care to her aunt, potentially covering seven nights per week. The
Council does not agree with that assessment. As | have made clear, it is not my
role to comment on the merits of that decision, particularly when it has been
confirmed following a review.

In reaching that view | have taken into account Mrs B’s contention that as her
aunt was assessed as requiring overnight support on occasion in 2013 and again
in 2015, the 2014 assessment was inaccurate. Mrs B says it is not consistent for
the Council to award overnight support before 2014 and after 2014 but not during
2014 itself. { understand Mrs B's point. However, the difference between 2013
and 2014 is that the review assessment recorded Mrs B’s aunt’s son was
providing overnight support. Taking that into account the reviewing officer
concluded Mrs B’s aunt did not require overnight support. Mrs B says her aunt
only said she was receiving overnight support from her son because the Council
had removed it from the assessment and she had no other option. However, that
is not the reviewing officer’s recollection of the discussion. The reviewing officer
was clear she did not consider Mrs B’s aunt required overnight support. | cannot
reach a safe conclusion about the circumstances in which Mrs B’s aunt said her
son was providing overnight support given the differing recollections. However, as
the reviewing officer was clear in her assessment Mrs B’s aunt did not require
overnight support there are no grounds for me to comment on that view. As | have
made clear, it is not my role to comment on the reviewing officer's judgement. |
therefore cannot criticise the Council for not awarding overnight support in 2014.

Mrs B says the Council refused to consider her appeal against the care plan
completed in May 2014. Having considered the documentary evidence | note the
Council reviewed that care plan and issued a new care plan on 3 June 2014. |
am therefore satisfied the Council dealt with the request for an appeal. In
reaching that view | am aware Mrs B asked for another review in 2015. The
Council refused that request on the basis Mrs B’s aunt had not requested a
review when the Council issued the revised care plan in June 2014. | cannot
criticise the Council for that decision. If Mrs B was dissatisfied with the care plan
completed in June 2014 | would have expected her to request a review at that
point. As the Council has pointed out, it cannot in any case assess someone
based on retrospective needs.

The evidence | have seen satisfies me the Council placed Mrs B’s aunt in a care
home with her aunt's agreement. | say that because the notes from the
discussions on the ward record Mrs B’s aunt agreed to go into short term care. |
therefore could not say the Council placed Mrs B’s aunt in a care home against
her will. Although Mrs B says her aunt did not know she was being discharged
into a care home and thought she was being returned to her own home when she
was discharged from hospital | am satisfied this was not the case. | say that
because the documentarbcc?é:grg? ghawMrs B's aunt signed the social worker's
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letter which outlined the financial assessment that would take place to assess the
contribution she would have to make towards her care costs in the care home.
Documentation from another family member as well as Mrs B also confirms Mrs
B’s aunt understood she would go into short term care on discharge from hospital.

Mrs B says although there was a discussion about placing her aunt in a care
home her aunt only agreed to go into one named care home. Mrs B says the
Council therefore did not have her aunt's agreement to go into placement B as
this was not her selected care home. Again, the documentary records do not
support that. Instead, the documentary records show although Mrs B’s aunt
expressed a preference to remain in a specific area she said she would go
anywhere if there were nc beds available. Mrs B disputes the accuracy of the
Council's records. However, the Ombudsman cannot take evidence on oath and
normally relies on the documentary records. As the documentary records show
Mrs B’s aunt agreed to go into a care home and did not say she would only
consider one home | have no grounds on which | could criticise the Council. It
follows | cannot criticise the Council for charging Mrs B’s aunt for the period she
was in placement B.

In reaching that view, | recognise Mrs B’s aunt asked to go home within days of
arriving at the care home. Mrs B says her aunt was distressed at that point. |
understand Mrs B’s concern, particularly when she saw how upset her aunt was.
However, as | have made clear, the documentary evidence shows Mrs B’s aunt
agreed to go into short term care. | am, however, satisfied the Council promptly
began the process of assessing Mrs B’s aunt's to arrange for her to return home
once it became aware of her request. While there was a delay between 30
January, when the family asked for the arrangements to be made and 28
February when Mrs B’s aunt returned home, | am satisfied that delay resulted
from the need to make arrangements with the family to carry out an assessment.
| cannot criticise the Council for that delay given it could not return Mrs B’s aunt
home without assessing her to ensure she was safe.

Mrs B says the Council placed her aunt in the care home and then closed the file.
Mrs B points to that as evidence the Council intended her aunt to stay in the
home permanently. | have found no evidence to support that conclusion.
Instead, the documentary evidence shows the placement in the care home was
for short term care for around six weeks. It may be family members understood
the case had been closed because the Council referred to allocating it to a social
worker to carry out an assessment to make the arrangements for a return home.
However, that the case was not allocated to a social worker does not mean it had
been closed. As | have seen no evidence to suggest the Council intended the
stay to be anything other than short term care | have no grounds to criticise it.

Mrs B also says the Council knew her aunt did not have the mental capacity to
make decisions for herself. Mrs B says this has been an ongoing situation from
2014 onwards. None of the documentary evidence refers to any suggestion,
either from the professionals involved or family members, that Mrs B’s aunt did
not have capacity to agree to go into a care home in January 2015. Indeed, when
the situation was discussed on the ward on 22 January 2015 with family members
present the records show the social worker referred to Mrs B’s aunt having
capacity to make her own decision about where to go. If, as Mrs B says, the
family had concerns about her aunt's capacity at that point | woukd have thought
they would have raised that issue at the time. | have seen no evidence they did
so. | therefore cannot criticise the Council for treating Mrs B’s aunt as having
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Recommended action

| recommend the Council make sure care assessments explain the Council's
reasoning when it decides not to make provision for needs which have been
assessed as critical.

Final decision

| have completed my investigation and found fault in part of the complaint which

caused injustice to Mrs B and her aunt. Although Mrs B does not agree with my

decision | am satisfied the action the Council will take is sufficient to remedy that
injustice.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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11 May 2016

Local Government

Complaint rference: OMBUDSMAN

15015 978

Compilaint against:

Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: The Council was at fault for taking too long to complete the
Stage 2 investigation into Mr B's complaint. The Council has
explained why there was a delay and apologised. There is no
evidence to support the rest of Mr B’s complaint.

The complaint
The complainant, whom | shall call Mr B, complains that:

* The Council failed to properly consider his complaint about a social worker at
Stages 2 and 3 of the children’s social care complaints procedure.

» The Council failed to properly consider his complaint about an Initial Child
Protection Conference (ICPC) at Stages 2 and 3 of the children’s social care
complaints procedure.

» The Stage 2 investigation into his complaint took too long causing confusion.
+ Council officers lied during the investigation.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

The Ombudsman investigates complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service
failure’. In this statement, | have used the word fault to refer to these. She must
also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making
the complaint. | refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused
an injustice, she may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and
26A(1))

The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong
simply because the complainant disagrees with it. She must consider whether
there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974,
section 34(3))

How | considered this complaint

| discussed the complaint with Mr B and considered all the information he
provided. | also sent the Council enquiries and considered its responses. | gave
the Council and Mr B the opportunity to consider my draft decision and
considered their responses.

Some of the papers provided to me refer to Mr B and his wife as being unhappy
with the Council's actions. For consistency my report names Mr B as the
complainant.

Page 61 of 102



10.

11.

12.

13.

15.

16.

17.

During my investigation Mr B has provided extra information in support his
complaint. | have considered this information as part of my investigation when |
considered it appropriate to do so.

What | found
Legislation / Complaints procedure

The law sets out a three stage procedure for councils to follow when looking at
complaints about children’s social care services. At Stage 2 of this procedure the
Council appoints an Investigating Officer (10). They also appeint an Independent
Person (IP) who is responsible for overseeing the investigation.

If a complainant is unhappy with the outcome of the Stage 2 investigation they
can ask for a Stage 3 review.

If a council has investigated something under this procedure the Ombudsman
would not normally re-investigate it. However, she may look at whether a council
properly considered the findings and recommendations of the independent
investigation.

Background

Mr B and his wife (Mrs B) have residency orders for two grandchildren. One is
now aged eighteen (Child X) and the other is sixteen (Child Y). Child X is female
and has learning difficulties. Child Y is male. Both have lived with Mr and Mrs B
since 2002.

Mr B say that in July 2014 he and his wife asked social services for support with
Child X. Mr and Mrs B had become concerned with Child X's behaviour and felt
she was vulnerable to sexual exploitation.

Social Worker A had been working with Mr and Mrs B’s family for over a year. Mr
and Mrs B eventually became unhappy with Social Worker A as they say she did
not provide the support asked for. They say that Social Worker A did not return
their telephone calls and failed to attend meetings.

Mr B submitted a complaint to the Council about Social Worker A. On 20 October
2014 Mr B and his wife met with two council officers and their local councillor.
One of the council officers is a Group Manager (Officer F). The other is a Service
Manager (Officer G). At the meeting the Council agreed to change the family's
social worker, to arrange some respite care for Child X and Child Y, and to
arrange a befriending service for Child X.

Following the meeting Officer F wrote to Mr and Mrs B. Her letter confirmed their
discussions and that an ICPC would take place on 05 November 2014.

ICPCs take place when the Council believe a child may continue to suffer or be at
risk of suffering significant harm. Officer F’s letter explained the ICPC would look
at the issue of Child X being vulnerable to sexual exploitation and how this would
be managed.

The Council invited Mr and Mrs B to a meeting on 05 November 2014. This was
the ICPC mentioned in Officer F’s letter. Mr and Mrs B say they thought the
purpose of the meeting was to discuss their request for help. They say that they
did not realise it was an ICPC.

Mr B says the Children’s Social Care Department did not explain the child
protection process or tell them why the meeting was taking place. They say they
did not have time to readﬁ%é%qep@gts before the meeting. This meant they
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did not have time to object to the content of the report, prepare for the meeting, or
have the opportunity to defend themselves. The result of the ICPC meeting was
for Child X to be subject to a Child Protection Plan.

Stage 1 Complaint

On 24 December 2014 Mr B submitted a Stage 1 complaint to the Council. The
main poeints of his complaint were as follows:

That Social Worker A did not listen to requests for help with Child X. She had
failed to return telephone calls and had not attended appointments.

That Social Worker A did not implement the help agreed in the meeting held on
20 October 2014.

That Social Worker A prepared a report for the ICPC meeting that was untrue.

That Social Worker A did not give Mr and Mrs B time to consider the report before
the ICPC meeting, nor did she explain what the meeting would be about.

That Social Worker A chaired a Core Group meeting on 14 November 2014 and
did not give Mr B the opportunity to speak.

On 24 December 2014 Officer G responded to Mr B’s complaint. She apologised
that Mr B did not have the opportunity to read the report before the ICPC, clarified
the purpose of the ICPC and apologised if Mr B felt his opinion had not been
sought. Officer G also apologised if Social Worker A had not returned Mr B's
telephone calls.

On 05 January 2015 Mr B telephoned the Council as he was unhappy with Officer
G’s response. He reiterated his original complaint and provided what he believed
were examples of “lies” written by Social Worker A in the report for the ICPC.

On 07 January 2015 Officer G responded to Mr B. She invited Mr B to write and
explain why he disagreed with the report produced by Social Worker A for the
ICPC. Officer G would then add this information to Chikd X’s file. Officer G
explained she could not confirm if Social Worker A had not responded to phone
calls but apologised if this was the case.

On 22 January 2015 Mr B asked the Council to consider his complaint at Stage 2
of the children’s social care complaints procedure.

Stage 2 Investigation

In response to Mr B’s request the Council escalated his complaint to Stage 2 of
the children’s social care complaints procedure. Mr B confirmed on 30 March
2015 the scope of the investigation. There is no need for me to reproduce Mr B's
complaint in full.

The Council appointed an |O and IP to carry out and oversee the investigation.
During the investigation the original IC became unwell and the IP took over as
she was familiar with the case. The Council then appointed a new IP. In July 2015
Officer H from the Council wrote to Mr and Mrs B to explain this and to apologise
for the delay in completing the investigation.

In October 2015 the 10 and IP completed their reports and sent copies to the
Council. The 10 did not uphold any of Mr B's complaints.

On 23 October 2015 Officer F wrote to Mr and Mrs B as the AO for the
investigation and told them she supported the 10’s findings. This completed Stage
2 of the children’s social care complaints procedure.
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Stage 3 Hearing

At the beginning of November 2015 Mr B told Officer H he would like to proceed
to Stage 3 of the complaints procedure. Mr B supplied evidence before the
hearing which took place on 08 December 2015.

The panei did not uphold Mr and Mrs B’s complaint and concluded that: “/n the
Panefl’s view [the IO] has conducted a thorough investigation and evidenced her
findings which are supported by the Independent Person.”

On 07 January 2016 the Council wrote to Mr and Mrs B and confirmed it agreed
with the Stage 2 and Stage 3 responses.

Was there fault by the Council?

Mr B’s complaint to the Ombudsman relates to four main issues. | have
addressed each of these below.

The Council failed to properly consider his complaint about a social worker
{Social Worker A) at Stages 2 and 3 of the children’s social care complaints
procedure.

In support of his complaint Mr B has supplied me with a number of examples and
| have carefully considered all of them.

In one example Mr B told me how on 04 August 2014 Officer | tried to contact

Social Worker A by telephone. Officer | left two messages for Social Worker A. Mr
B feels this shows Social Worker A was difficult to contact and the 10 should have
obtained Officer I's phone records. This could then have formed part of her report.

In another example Mr B told me about a number of occasions when he gave
Officer | letters to pass on to Social Worker A. Mr B is unhappy Social Worker A
did not respond and feels this issue was not properly addressed by the Stage 2 or
Stage 3 responses to his complaint.

Analysis

| understand Mr B is unhappy the 10 did not obtain Officer I's phone records as
part of her investigation. But the 10’s report deals extensively with the contact
between Social Worker A and Mr B’s family. This includes a table spanning three
pages recording contact over a five month period. The phone records would
simply have shown that Social Worker A did not answer her phone at a particular
time. I do not consider the 10 to be at fault for not obtaining Officer I's phone
records.

Mr B is certain he gave Officer | ietters to pass to Social Worker A. But the 10’s
decision on this matter is based on interviews with staff and the case records.
Officer | said that while she did see one letter from a consultant she did not take it
away from the family home. Officer | said Mr B did not give her other letters to
pass to Social Worker A. The 10 found there was no evidence to show Social
Worker A received the letters in question and | do not find fault with how this
decision was reached.

The 10Q's report into Mr B's complaint is extremely detailed. It sets out the
background to Mr B’s complaint, contains a chronology of key events and
describes how the IO carried out the investigation. In carrying out her
investigation the 10 interviewed the people she considered most important to the
complaint and considered information provided by Mr B. The IO also considered
information available on Council systems such as case notes for Child X.
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38.

38.

40.

41,

42,

43,

a4,

48,

47.

48.

The 1O's report addresses each of Mr B’s complaints in turn. The process the IO
followed to investigate each particular complaint is clear. For each complaint the
IO sets out how she reached her decision. The IO clearly recorded her decision
into each complaint.

GBC sets out the process councils should follow for Stage 3 hearings. | have
considered the Stage 3 report and listened to some of the recording taken during
the hearing. The process followed is in line with the one set out in GBC.

Mr B claims he did not have time to say everything he wanted and the 10 spoke
for too long. Mr B also claims the meeting came to an abrupt end as the IP had to
leave.

Having listened to the recording of the meeting | consider that Mr B and Mrs B
had sufficient opportunities to present their case and to ask questions. The
recording confirms the hearing ended as the IP had to leave but it did last for
three hours. The Chair also asked Mr and Mrs B at the end of the hearing if there
was anything else they would like to add and they confirmed there was not.

While it is unfortunate the hearing ended the way it did | cannot say there was any
significant fault in the administration of the Stage 3 hearing.

The Stage 3 report into Mr B’s complaint is far less detailed than the one
compiled by the 10. This is expected as the purpose of the panel is to review the
Stage 2 report and to make recommendations it considers appropriate. | consider
the report to be an accurate representation of the discussions held.

When | originally spoke to Mr B about his complaint | expiained | would not be
able to reinvestigate matters or to criticise the Stage 2 and 3 responses unless
there was clear evidence of fault.

Having considered ail the information available | do not consider the Council to be
at fault in the way it considered Mr B’s complaint at Stages 2 and 3 of the
children’s social care complaints procedure.

The Council failed to properly consider his complaint about an ICPC at
Stages 2 and 3 of the children’s social care complaints procedure.

Mr B’s complaint about the ICPC was made under three main headings:

The Council failed to explain the child protection process and to check Mr and
Mrs B’s understanding of the process.

Mr B feit the report written by Social Worker A was based on incorrect information
and Mr and Mrs B were not given the opportunity to read the report. Mr B aiso
complained Social Worker A did not provide a copy of the ICPC minutes and
failed to tell Mr and Mrs B about concerns over Child X's behaviour.

* That Social Worker A recommended Child Y be placed on a Child Protection Plan

because of neglect by Mr and Mrs B.
Analysis

As this complaint was considered as part of the 10’s wider Stage 2 investigation
the comments | have already made apply. In considering each complaint the 10
reached a decision on the evidence available.

For example, the 10 identified a number of pieces of evidence where Mr and Mrs
B were notified of the ICPC. Child X and Child Y had aiso previously been subject
to Child Protection Plans. Based on this information the 10 did not uphold Mr B's

complaint the Council failed to lain the child protection process.
Ba o2 BtPan i
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The Stage 3 response into these matters is less detailed but the panel supported
the Stage 2 findings. The report documents the panef’s discussions around the
concerns raised by Mr B about the ICPC.

Whenever a decision is taken to convene an ICPC the needs of the child are the
priority and take precedence over all other matters. While | fully understand the
stress an ICPC can cause a child’s carers | can find no evidence of fault in the
Stage 2 and Stage 3 investigations into this matter.

The Stage 2 investigation into his complaint took too long causing
confusion.

The Regulations for children’s social care complaints allow twenty five days for a
Stage 2 investigation. This can be extended to 65 days if the complainant is in
agreement.

As set out in paragraph 31 the IO originally appointed to investigate Mr B’s
complaint became unwell. The IP then took over the investigation with a new IP
appointed.

Due to the original IO becoming unwell there was a delay in completing the Stage
2 investigation. The Council has said it took 143 days to complete. This is fault
and Officer H apologised for this in an email and letter dated 08 July 2015 and 23
July 2015 respectively. The Stage 3 panel also noted there had been a significant
delay in completing the investigation.

Analysis

The Council was at fault due to the delay in carrying out the Stage 2 investigation.
This caused Mr B injustice because of the upset and uncertainty he had to endure
while waiting for the Stage 2 findings.

The Council has accepted there were delays in completing the investigation and
has provided an explanation and an apology.

| consider the actions already taken by the Council to be a suitable remedy for the
injustice caused.

Council officers lied during the investigation.

This complaint is a broad one which overlaps with many of the issues already
considered.

Mr B is clearly unhappy with the information provided by certain council officers
during the investigation and has provided examples he believes support his
complaint.

| have already covered some of these issues above and they include:
Officer | denying that Mr and Mrs B gave her letters to pass to Social Worker A.
Social Worker A denying she received letters from Mr and Mrs B.

That Social Worker A lied when she said Child X's behaviour prevented her from
sharing her report with Mr and Mrs B on the eve of the ICPC.

Analysis

Mr B has provided examples where his interpretation of events is clearly different
to those provided by council officers. But in situations where two parties disagree
on what was said it is unlikely the Ombudsman would ever be able to find out
exactly what happened.
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64.

While I understand how strongly Mr B feels about the issues he has raised | do
not uphold his complaint that council officers lied during the investigation.

Final decision

[ uphold Mr B’s compiaint the Council took too long to complete a Stage 2
investigation into his complaint. The Council’'s expianation and apology is an
appropriate remedy. | do not uphold the rest of Mr B’s complaint and have ended
my investigation.

Investigator’s final decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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3 May 2016 Local Government

Complaint reforonce: OMBUDSMAN

15 010 488

Complaint against:
Nottinghamshire County Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision

Summary: The Council failed to document a safeguarding
investigation properly. The documentation failed to record the specific
concerns raised and to properly explain how it reached the decision
that there was no neglect. The Council has agreed to apologise to Mr
Y and provide further information about how the Council reached the
safeguarding decision.

The complaint

1. The complainant, whom | refer to as Mr Y, complains about services provided to
his late grandfather, whom | refer to as Mr S, at Jubilee Court. Mr Y complains
that Nottinghamshire County Council failed to complete a retrospective
safeguarding investigation properly.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers

2. The Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice caused by
maladministration and service failure. | have used the word fault to refer to these.
The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong
simply because the complainant disagrees with it. She must consider whether
there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974,
section 34(3))

s. The Ombudsman investigates complaints about councils and certain other
bodies. Where an individual, organisation or private company is providing
services on behalf of a council, the Ombudsman can investigate complaints about
the action of these providers. (Local Government Act 1974, section 25(7))

s If the Ombudsman is satisfied with a council’s actions or proposed actions, she
can complete her investigation and issue a decision statement. (Local Government
Act 1974, section 30(1B) and 34H(i)

How | considered this complaint

5. | considered information from a previous decision related to this complaint (case
reference 14014168) and information provided by Mr Y. | made enquiries of the
Council and considered information it provided.

s. | considered inspection reports from the Care Quality Commission (CQC) who is
the statutory regulator of care services. It keeps a register of care providers who
show they meet the fundamental standards of care, inspects care services and
issues reports on its findings, and has power to enforce its recommendations for

improvement of registered services.
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10.

| considered the relevant legislation, government guidance and local policies in
place at the time of the complaint.

| have written to Mr Y and the Councii with my draft decision and given them an
opportunity to comment.

What | found

Background information

Mr S went into Jubilee Court in October 2009. The Council funded and arranged
the placement. The Council ran Jubilee Court but sold it in mid 2012. Mr Y
complains that the care provided at Jubilee Court was inadequate, in particular
that:-

it failed to regularly carry out risk assessments and care plan reviews. When they
were carried out, they remained unchanged, even though Mr S’s needs were
increasing;

in June 2012 it stopped regular personal safety checks;

it failed to properly menitor Mr $’s weight loss and keep adequate nutrition and
fluid charts;

it failed to deal with other residents bullying Mr S and manage his risk of falling.

Mr S died in May 2013. Mr Y says he is concerned about the care Mr S received
leading up to his death and that CQC had also already identified shortfalls in
Jubilee Court’s care.

The Ombudsman considered a previous complaint regarding this case. The
outcome was that the Council agreed to complete a retrospective safeguarding
investigation into the matters raised.

What happened
The Council completed a safeguarding investigation. The officer involved:-
considered Jubilee Court’s care records;

considered the Council’s records. A review completed by the Council on 22
February 2012 said that the family were happy with Jubilee Court.

The officer also contacted:-

the GP who provided information about the end of life care for Mr S and
commented that the family had said on 13, 14 and 15 May 2013 that they wanted
Mr S to remain at Jubilee Court. Mr Y says that this information is inaccurate as
the GP had already made the decision that Mr S should remain at Jubilee Court;

* a continuing health care colleague who explained that continuing care had

completed a check list but found that Mr S did not have any nursing needs. Mr Y
disputes this and says that the checklist was positive;

contacted the coroner who reported no concerns;

took account of CQC reports which in August 2013 identified that Jubilee Court
needed to take action on a number of matters; one of these was the care and
welfare of people who use the service. It said that there was no policy for the
assessment and review of care; that the care provider had not reviewed risk
assessments and failed to properly record food and fluid intake.
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The officer found that although there were care plans and risk assessments in
place there were no regular reviews. She also doccumented that there were no
records to show that care staff had completed 30 minute/hourly observations,
food and fluid charts or that there were repositioning charts in place for Mr S.

The officer however concludes that although there were gaps in the
documentation there was no evidence to suggest that there were concerns about
the care and support Jubilee Court provided.

What should have happened

A council must make necessary enquiries if it has reason to think a person may
be at risk of abuse or neglect and has needs for care and support which mean he
or she cannot protect himself or herself. It must also decide whether it or another
person or agency should take any action to protect the person from abuse or risk.
(section 42, Care Act 2014)

Was there fault causing injustice?

The safeguarding completed in this case was unusual as it was retrospective and
the person affected had died. While taking this into account | do not consider that
the conclusions reached by the Council are sound. This is because the officer
involved highlights inconsistencies within the care provider's recording but does
not say why she considered that despite these inconsistencies there was no
neglect. | consider this is fault.

In addition the safeguarding investigation did not record Mr Y’s specific concerns
and address all the individual points. If the Council did not consider it appropriate
to investigate all the matters it should have recorded this as part of the
investigation. | consider this is fault.

As a result of the faults | have identified | consider that Mr Y has the uncertainty of
not knowing whether the decision reached by the Council is correct. | also
consider that contacting Mr Y at the start of the process would have been good
practice.

In response to a draft decision of this complaint the Council provided a further
explanation of how it reached the safeguarding decision. | have considered the
additional information and consider that it satisfactorily addresses the anomalies
that it identified. As stated in paragraph 2, the Ombudsman does not usually
challenge a professional judgement unless there is procedural fault. | am
therefore unable to say that the outcome of the investigation is wrong.

Agreed action

| consider that Mr Y has suffered injustice as a result of the Council's failure to
properly document its decision about why it felt there was no neglect. The Council
has already sent an explanation about how the Council reached the safeguarding
decision in particular how it decided that there was no neglect despite the
omissions that it found and about how it considered all the elements of Mr Y’s
concerns outlined in paragraph 9. It has also agreed to:-

within one month of the final decision apologise to Mr Y about the failure to
properly evidence how the Council reached the safeguarding decision;

within two months of the final decision to tell CQC about the safeguarding
investigation and the outcome of the safeguarding including the explanation
requested above;
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« within two months of the final decision to remind staff about the importance of
documenting how safeguarding decisions are reached.

Final decision

| uphold the complaint that the Council failed to properly record how it reached the
safeguarding conclusions. This has caused Mr Y uncertainty. | consider the
agreed actions are suitable to remedy the complaint and have completed my
investigation and closed the complaint on this basis.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman
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E%a Nottinghamshire Report to Governance and Ethics
%4 1 County Council Committee

8 November 2017
Agenda Iltem: 5

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

THE CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS

Purpose of the Report

1. To seek Committee’s views on the existing Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-Opted
Members and the procedure for dealing with conduct allegations. The report will be
accompanied by a presentation on the options available.

Information and Advice

2. The current Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-Opted Members was adopted by the
County Council in 2012 in accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011. The
procedure for dealing with conduct allegations was also adopted at that time, and updated in
2014.

3. Members have complained that current procedures are unsatisfactory, and indicated at the
first meeting of Governance and Ethics Committee that a review would be appropriate.

4. A relatively small number of complaints have been considered under the procedure for
dealing with conduct allegations, but it is still important to keep arrangements under review.

5. The Council’'s current Code of Conduct is based on the Local Government Association
model, and adopts a relatively light-touch approach. Other options are available and these
will be considered in detail during the meeting.

6. One optionthat could be considered is the adoption of protocols to give Councillors and Co-
opted members clear guidelines on the standards of conduct expected. Any new protocols,
and any relevant County Council protocols that are already in existence could be clearly
referenced in a revised code of conduct.

7. For example, one area where Councillors might benefit from a clear protocol is use of
resources. The Council has considered more than one complaint about the volume and

content of letters issued by Councillors, which complainants have felt to be political in nature
and therefore a misuse of resources.

Other Options Considered
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8. The options will be considered and proposals developed by Members during the meeting.
Reason/s for Recommendation/s

9. To ensure the Council’s conduct arrangements are effective and efficient.

Statutory and Policy Implications

10.This report has been compiled after consideration of implications in respect of crime and
disorder, data protection and information governance, finance, human resources, human
rights, the NHS Constitution (public health services), the public sector equality duty,
safeguarding of children and adults at risk, service users, smarter working, sustainability and
the environment and and where such implications are material they are described below.
Appropriate consultation has been undertaken and advice sought on these issues as
required.

RECOMMENDATION/S

1) That Members consider what actions they require in relation to the issues contained in the
report.

2) If Members consider that an appropriate way forward is to require all Councillors and Co-
Optees to comply with specific protocols regarding conduct, to agree which protocols
should be incorporated into a a revised code of conduct.

Jayne Francis-Ward
Monitoring Officer and Corporate Director Resources

For any enquiries about this report please contact: Susan Bearman, Senior Solicitor,
Legal Services

Constitutional Comments (SMG 10/10/17)

11. The Governance & Ethics Committee has responsibility for the implementation of and
revision to all codes of conduct and practice of the County Council and is the appropriate
body to consider the contents of this report. If the Committee resolves that any actions are
required it must be satisfied that such actions are within the Committee’s terms of reference.

Financial Comments (SES 10/10/17)

12. There are no specific financial implications arising directly from this report.

Background Papers and Published Documents

Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local

Government Act 1972.

e Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-Opted Members
e Procedure for Dealing with Conduct Allegations
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Electoral Division(s) and Member(s) Affected

e All
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I%a Nottinghamshire Report to Governance & Ethics
%4% ] County Council Committee

8 November 2017

Agenda Item: 6

REPORT OF SERVICE DIRECTOR - FINANCE, PROCUREMENT AND
IMPROVEMENT

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT - 2017/18

Purpose of the Report

1. To inform Members of the Head of Internal Audit’'s Progress Report on the work carried out
by Internal Audit in the first half of 2017/18, and to highlight any key issues arising.

Information and Advice

2. The Authority has a statutory responsibility to undertake an adequate and effective internal
audit of the County Council’s operations. This responsibility is discharged by the Internal
Audit Service which has unrestricted access to all activities undertaken by the County
Council.

3. The work carried out by Internal Audit involves reviewing and reporting on the control
environment established by management to:-
a) determine and monitor the achievement of the Authority’s objectives
b) identify, assess and appropriately manage the risks to achieving the Authority’s
objectives
c) facilitate policy and decision making
d) ensure the economical, effective and efficient use of resources
e) ensure compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations
f) safeguard the Authority’s assets and interests.

4. Internal Audit's work is planned to cover these areas and to provide an independent
assessment of whether the Authority’s systems and procedures are working appropriately.
The work of Internal Audit is carried out in compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards (PSIAS). It is good practice to provide progress reports on Internal Audit work to
senior management (Corporate Leadership Team) and the Board (Governance & Ethics
Committee) and this report satisfies this expectation.

Progress against the Audit Plan 2017/18
5. The following charts depict progress against the audit plan for the first half of 2017/18.
Progress is expressed in terms of the following:
» Inputs — the number of audit days delivered against the plan. Each segment in the chart
represents 1/12" of the annual plan.
» Outputs — the number of jobs completed against the plan. Each segment in the chart
represents 1/12" of the annual plan.
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» Productivity indicator — the target score is 1, indicating that all jobs have been completed
on time and using the planned allocation of days.

17/18 Days - 1613.5 for year 17/18 Jobs - 128 for year
Days Delivered - September Jobs Completed - September

0.97

[CELLS GEl
RANGE] CELLRANGE]

GE] [CELLRA
[c

[ ]
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Productivity - September 2017

6. The charts show that the Section is on track at this stage of the year in terms of the number
of days delivered, and slightly behind schedule as regards the number of jobs completed. The
Plan is being implemented flexibly in order to respond to emerging issues and developments.
Internal Audit has developed an approach to assessing requests to become involved in
unplanned work, to ensure such work will not compromise the Section’s responsibilities to
deliver its annual assurance to the Council. The following are the key engagements that
Internal Audit has accepted in the first half of the year, and the time requirements for these
pieces of work have been more significant than the standard time allocation for a more
routine audit:

a) Combined assurance reviews of the Council’s Alternative Service Delivery Models
(ASDMs) — these required more time than anticipated in Internal Audit’s planned coverage
of these developments (see paragraph 10 for further details).

b) Rolleston Drive/Grove Leisure Centre fire incidents — work is currently in progress to
assess two aspects: the process followed to progress disposal of the vacant sites; and the
measures put in place to secure the vacant sites.
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10.

c) lrregularity investigations - a number of irregularity enquiries have arisen in the first half of
the year. Internal Audit is providing appropriate levels of input, both to advise and support
management in progressing the investigations and to consider any implications for internal
controls arising from the cases. Further details of current counter-fraud work is presented
at paragraph 11.

Audit assurance

In the first half of the year, a range of work has been completed across the Council.
Appendix 1 sets out details of all final reports, draft reports and written advice, covering the
following key types of Internal Audit input:

Assurance audits, for which an audit opinion is issued

Advice and consultancy — often relating to key developments and initiatives

Counter-fraud — including the investigation of suspected fraud and whistleblower reports
Certification audits — generally small jobs to sign off returns and accounts.

Analysis of the opinion-based assurance work shows the following distribution of opinions
issued so far in the current year (see chart below). Based on this, and adding it to the rolling
outcomes of Internal Audit's assurance work over the past 12 months, the Head of Internal
Audit is able to report that a satisfactory level of internal control continues to be in
operation in the council, although the incidence of ‘limited assurance’ opinions is something
to be kept under review and has been recognised by the Council in its Annual Governance
Statement.

Opinions:- Q2 2017/18

Limited, 9, 20% .

Substantial, 7, 16%

Reasonable, 28, 64%

The work to date has identified some areas in which internal controls need to be
strengthened, most notably in the 9 areas for which a ‘limited assurance’ opinion was issued.
Brief details of these audits are presented in Appendix 2. Some of the issues identified can
be traced back to compliance with some aspect of the Council’s Financial Regulations or, in
the case of schools, with the Local Authority Scheme for Financing Schools. The need for
strengthened arrangements for budgetary control was the key issue in one area.

Advisory input to developments
Internal Audit continues to provide advisory input to a number of key developments in the
Council. In the first half of the year, this effort has focussed on the following:

a) Place Dept: Alternative Service Delivery Models (ASDMs) — the Council is reviewing its
three operational ASDMs (Arc, Via & Inspire) and Internal Audit is making a significant
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contribution to this work. The review has been undertaken in two phases: Internal Audit
conducted the first phase in conjunction with the Project Management Office (PMO), and
this resulted in the production of four interim reports (one for each of the ASDMs, plus a
composite report). The second phase is an externally-led assurance review, comprising a
review team of two external consultants and two internal officers (the Head of the PMO
and the Head of Internal Audit). Internal Audit’s findings from the first phase of the review
are feeding in to the second phase, and this will culminate in a single report covering both
phases for each of the ASDMs, plus again a composite report.

b) CFCS Dept: Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) — Internal Audit’'s work in
this area contributed dually to the assurance work of the section and to a wider change
programme the Council is progressing. Further details are presented in Appendix 2.

c) ASCHPP Dept: advisory input to two developmental projects relating to the re-
procurement of the homebased care service and the cutover arrangements to the Mosaic
case management system.

This type of input ensures that timely advice is delivered by the Section while new and
changed systems are being designed and implemented, and it helps to maintain the influence
the Section has to retain a proper focus on control issues. Informal feedback from senior
officers continues to indicate that this type of input is valued.

Counter-Fraud
11.Progress is being made with the Section’s pro-active counter-fraud programme. Notable

developments are in train with the following:

e Fraud Health Check Audit

e Trial of more timely prevention and detection facilities provided by the National Fraud
Initiative (NFI), targeted at those areas of the Council’s services vulnerable to fraudulent
activity

e Follow up of the Serious & Organised Crime (SOC) assessment and completion of the full
SOC Audit which includes working protocols with Trading Standards and Nottinghamshire
Police

e Development of a new e-learning package to promote counter-fraud awareness among
the Council’s staff.

12.A number of issues have been reported to Internal Audit in the first half of the year. Brief
details, and the extent of Internal Audit’s involvement in their investigation, are set out below:

Area of service and nature of irregularity

Extent of Internal Audit’s input

Public Health service provider — allegations of
bogus claims for payment

Work alongside management to evaluate the
validity of the claims and to identify actions
needed to ensure effective contract
management going forward.

Direct Payments — suspicions of the
inappropriate use of funds, or ineligibility for
funding.

In addition to the dedicated audit review of
this area, Internal Audit is now meeting
periodically with relevant managers to discuss
current cases and the actions being taken to
investigate.

Direct Payment Support Service provider —
suspicions of a shortfall on the service user
accounts a service provider is managing on

Advice and support to management currently
investigating. An assessment of controls by
Internal Audit will follow.
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Area of service and nature of irregularity Extent of Internal Audit’s input

behalf of service users who opt to have their
accounts managed in this way.

Children’s unit — suspicion of duplicated and | Advice and support to management currently
inaccurate timesheet claims. investigating. An assessment of controls by
Internal Audit will follow.

13.In all cases, Internal Audit assesses whether the weaknesses in internal controls are a
contributory factor to the issues arising and makes recommendations to management. The
Fraud Risk Assessment will be updated in light of both the pro-active and reactive fraud work.

Key Performance Indicators
14.Progress against the Section’s performance indicators, as at the end of September 2017, is
detailed in the following table:

Performance Measure/Criteria Target Outcome as at
30/9/2017

A. Outcome measures
1. Risk-aware Council

Completion of Audit Plan - Days 90% v 97%
- Jobs 90% v 92%
Regular progress reports to:
- Departmental Leadership 3 pa v'1% round completed
Teams & part-way through 2™
- Corporate Leadership Team 3 pa v'2 to date
- Governance & Ethics 2 pa v'1 completed
Committee
Publication of periodic fraud/control 2 pa XYet to be actioned.
awareness updates E-learning module is

under development
(see para 11 above)

2. Influential Audit Section

Recommendations agreed 95% v'100%
Engagement with the Transformation | Active in 5 key projects v/Currently engaged
agenda with 4

3. Improved internal control & VFM
Percentage of Priority 1 & Priority 2 75% v'88%
recommendations implemented (from latest update to

Committee in
September 2017)

4. Quality measures
Compliance with the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards: v'Substantial
- Head of Internal Audit’s annual Compliance achieved Compliance
Quality Assurance and
Improvement Programme

- External Quality Assurance Compliance achieved x (EQA to be
Assessment of Internal Audit completed by end
March 2018)
Positive customer feedback through Feedback good or v Average score
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Performance Measure/Criteria Target Outcome as at

30/9/2017
Quality Control Questionnaire (QCQ) | excellent (where a score of 1.51
scores 1 is excellent and a score
of 2 is good)

15.The Section is currently on target to meet its targets for the year.

Benchmarking data

16.Nottinghamshire participates in the CIPFA Benchmarking Club for Internal Audit and the
report for 2016/17 has recently been received. There are now few participants (22) in the
Club relative to the number of council internal audit sections in the country, and the number of
participants from two-tier county councils is fewer still, at just three. The remaining
participants are unitary authorities. This necessitates some degree of caution when assessing
the outcomes, nonetheless some of the key benchmarks are presented in Appendix 4. The
key messages that may be drawn from these are:

- The Nottinghamshire service continues to be low cost compared to others.

- The extent of coverage has remained low by comparison with other participants, but the
current year’s plans are likely to see more of a convergence with the levels at other
authorities.

- The number of chargeable days per auditor delivered in 2016/17 was low compared with
others, and this can in part be explained by the relatively high level of sickness last year.
This issue was reported to the former Audit Committee during the year along with the
progress made in addressing it.

17.The relative worth of remaining a member of the CIPFA club will be kept under review.
Nottinghamshire’s Internal Audit Section is also an active member of the County Chief
Auditors’ Network (CCAN), a national group comprising the chief internal auditors of the
English county, city and metropolitan council areas. The group’s current work plan includes
the development of benchmarking, and the relative merits of any future exercise will be
considered in comparison to the service offered by CIPFA.

Conclusion

18.The work undertaken by Internal Audit during the first half of 2017/18 has covered some key
systems in the Authority. The incidence of limited assurance opinions has increased, but
controls in the majority of systems and procedures continue to operate satisfactorily.
Management continue to respond positively to Internal Audit’s work, and there is a good level
of assurance that agreed actions are being implemented.

Other Options Considered

19.The Audit Section is working to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards during 2017/18.
This report meets the requirement of the Standards to provide an Interim Progress Report.
No other option was considered.

Reason/s for Recommendation/s

20.To set out the Progress Report of the Head of Internal Audit for the first half of 2017/18.

Statutory and Policy Implications
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21.This report has been compiled after consideration of implications in respect of crime and
disorder, data protection and information governance, finance, human resources, human
rights, the NHS Constitution (public health services), the public sector equality duty,
safeguarding of children and adults at risk, service users, smarter working, sustainability and
the environment and where such implications are material they are described below.
Appropriate consultation has been undertaken and advice sought on these issues as
required.

Finance implications

22.The Local Government Act 1972 requires, in Section 151 that the Authority appoint an officer
who is responsible for the proper administration of the Council's financial affairs. The Service
Director — Finance, Procurement and Improvement is the designated Section 151 officer
within Nottinghamshire County Council. Section 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations
2011 requires Local Authorities to undertake an adequate and effective internal audit of its
accounting records and of its system of internal control. The County Council has delegated
the responsibility to maintain an internal audit function for the Authority to the Service Director
— Finance, Procurement and Improvement.

RECOMMENDATION

1) Arising from the content of this report, Members determine whether they wish to see any
actions put in place or follow-up reports brought to a future meeting.

Nigel Stevenson
Service Director — Finance, Procurement and Improvement

For any enquiries about this report please contact:
Rob Disney
Head of Internal Audit

Constitutional Comments (SLB 23/10/2017)

Governance and Ethics Committee is the appropriate body to consider the content of this report.
If Committee resolves that any actions are required it must be satisfied that such actions are
within the Committee’s terms of reference.

Financial Comments (RWK 23/10/2017)

There are no specific financial implications arising directly from the report.

Background Papers.

Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local

Government Act 1972:

Electoral Division(s) and Member(s) Affected
All
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Appendix 1

ASSURANCE AUDITS
Reasonable Assurance )
Limited ASCHPP Dept Substantial
Assurance Delayed transfers of care Assurance
Short Breaks Service (at draft stage) Counc.il-wide
Reviews
ASCHPP Dept | | CFCS Dept 2 quarterly follow-ups
Procurement of Schools Statutory Reserve of recommendations
suppliers & providers Fostering allowances & fees (June 22(())1177)& Sept
Direct Payments (at Reductions in school staffing .
draft stage) ASDM Inspire Phase 1
HM Coroner's Service (at Place Dept (at interim stage)
draft stage) ASDM Via Phase 1 review (at interim stage)
Place Dept ASDM Arc Phase 1- some aspects carry limited assurance (at interim stage)
Innovation Centres (at Resources Dept
draft stage) Competency Centre
Council-wide Reviews
Annual Governance Statement
Strategic Risk Management
ASDM composite review Phase 1 (at imterim stage)
Schools Schools
4 primary schools 13 primary schools Schools
iy adnaal el 3 primary school follow-ups - reasonable progress 4 primary schools

up
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COUNTER-FRAUD

¢ Council-wide

eAnnual Fraud Report
eTransparency Code

eSerious & Organised Crime Checklist

eNational Anti-fraud Network and National
Fraud Intelligence Bureau - fraud alert
monitoring & dissemination

e ASCHPP Dept
*Whistleblower - care assessments & reviews

eNeighbouring council alert - former Public
Health service provider

eDirect Payment cases - ongoing advice

ADVISORY WORK

¢ Council-wide

eAttendance at Risk, Safety & Emergency
Management Board

¢ ASCHPP Dept

¢Ollerton Day Centre -imprest account and cash
handling procedures

eHomebased care re-procurement

eMosaic system cutover arrangements

 Place Dept

¢Clayfields Secure Unit - redevelopment project
eCommunity Safety - information management
¢ Resources Dept

ePensions/payroll data matching

Appendix 1

CERTIFICATION AUDITS

e ASCHPP Dept

eTrading Standards certificates for 2016/17 for:
Scambusters, Operation Spinnaker & Operation
Comfort

* Place Dept

ePlatt Lane Playing Fields accounts

eCarbon Reduction Certificate

*Bus Services Operators' Grant
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Appendix 2

Audit Reports issued to date in 2017/18 which had a “Limited Assurance”
Audit Opinion

a) 2017- 90 — Procurement of suppliers & providers (July 2017)

This audit followed a review in 2016/17 of compliance with Financial Regulations for the
procurement of the interim homecare service. It reviewed the procedures followed to
procure the most significant suppliers to Adult Social Care services within the
department. Around ¥ of the sampled providers were properly procured, but we found
the Council’s procurement regulations had not been followed in the remainder of cases,
representing approximately £6.8m of expenditure. Recommendations to address the
issues highlighted were accepted for implementation. A further audit is currently in
progress to assess compliance with the procurement regulations across the rest of the
Council.

b) School Budget Share audits

The programme of school visits has identified five schools to date for which a limited
assurance audit opinion was provided (two of these are currently at draft stage). The
audits of school budget share cover a broad range of areas including: governance;
expenditure; income; assets; and information. Reports are provided to the Headteacher
and the Chair of Governors for action. The issues identified concerned the following:

Activity Key issues identified

Governance | Awareness of LA Scheme for Financing Schools
Formal approval of the school’s finance policy
Budget monitoring arrangements

Employees | Approval for additional payments to staff
Reimbursements to staff

Procurement | Management and use of purchase card

Compliance with quotation and tendering requirements
Use of purchase orders

Evidence of invoice authorisation

Payments to self-employed contractors

Income Records of receipts for trips and extended services

c) Draft Reports

The following reports carry a ‘Limited Assurance’ opinion and are at draft stage. A brief
summary of key issues arising from these audits will be included in a future progress
update, once the reports have been finalised.

2016-40 ASCHPP Dept: HM Coroner for Nottinghamshire: NCC contributions.
2016-50 ASCHPP Dept: Direct Payments
2017-58 Place Dept: Innovation Centres
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d) Updates from previous progress report
The following report was at draft stage at the time of the previous progress report,
therefore brief details of the finalised report are set out here.

2016-92 CFCS Dept: SEND Home to school transport — budget management (July
2017)

This audit was undertaken as a key contribution to a wider change programme in the
Council for the provision of transportation of pupils with special educational needs and
disabilities (SEND). Management accepted recommendations for budget responsibility
and accountability to be aligned with those most able to control it. The arrangements for
setting the annual budget are now to be based on a new approach to financial
modelling, using the most relevant and up-to-date information available. In the light of
the change programme, current budget savings targets have been re-assessed.
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CIPFA Benchmarking 2016/17

2016/17 Actuals
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£274

Average
£317

Trend (2016)
£258
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CIPFA Benchmarking 2016/17 Appendix 3
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CIPFA Benchmarking 2016/17

2016/17 Actuals
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CIPFA Benchmarking 2016/17

Analysis of Planned Days per Auditor
Staff on Payroll

Nottinghamshire Days Days/ Avg.
Total Days PA 2,263 261 261.0
Mon-Productive Days:

Bank Holidays 87 10 7.1
Annual Leave 277 32 259.5
Special Leave 19 2 1.5
Sickness 130 15 7.9
Training 104 12 8.3

Available Days 1,646 190 205.3
Other Non-Chargeable Days 356 41 29.8
Chargeable Days 1,250 149 180
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E%a Nottinghamshire Report to Governance and Ethics
%4 1 County Council Committee

8 November 2017
Agenda Item: 7

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER

THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT — ANNUAL REPORT

Purpose of the Report

1. To advise Governance and Ethics Committee of the Council’s activity under the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) and to agree a staff awareness campaign.

Information and Advice

2. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) gives the Council the power to
undertake covert surveillance in relation to certain investigations. There is a strict
authorisation process set out in the legislation; applications are considered by senior officers
before final approval is given by the Magistrates Court.

3. A programme of monitoring and review is set out in the Council’'s RIPA and Surveillance
Policy.

4. Consequential changes have been made to the Policy in order to reflect the Council’s revised
committee arrangements from May 2017. Quarterly reports have already been submitted to
Communities and Place Committee which has responsibility for matters previously
considered by Community Safety Committee. This is the first annual oversight report to
Governance and Ethics Committee as this type of issue is covered by this new committee’s
terms of reference.

5. Since the last annual report in September 2016 RIPA powers have been used sparingly by
the Council.

a. No new authorisations for covert surveillance have been granted. There is one ongoing
Trading Standards prosecution relating to supply of illicit and counterfeit cigarettes and
tobacco, for which evidence was gathered in April 2016 using covert surveillance.

b. Five applications have been made for access to communications data to assist
withTrading Standards investigations. Communications data includes telephone and
email account information, but not the content of any communication. One has resulted in
no further action, whilst one is connected to an investigation which is currently in the
Nottingham Crown Court for Fraud Act offences. The other 3 relate to ongoing
investigations.
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6. Although RIPA powers are used infrequently it is essential that employees are aware of the
requirements to make sure any surveillance is properly authorised. Awareness raising for
employees is undertaken periodically. In April 2016 the Chief Executive published a blog on
the subject and articles were published in Team Talk, and on the Council’s Intranet News. It
Is proposed to run a similar staff awareness campaign before the end of the year.

7. The focus will be on use of social media for investigations; the Office of the Surveillance
Commissioner wrote to all local authorities this year highlighting the the importance of
ensuring staff are aware of the issues that can arise when using Facebok and other social
media.

8. The Council’'s Policy and procedure will also be updated to reflect the fact that from 1
September 2017 The Office of Surveillance Commissioners and The Interception of
Communications Commissioner's Office were abolished. The Investigatory Powers
Commissioner's Office (IPCO) is now responsible for the judicial oversight of RIPA.

Other Options Considered

9. None; the proposed awareness campaign complies with good practice guidance issued by
the Office of the Surveillance Commissioner.

Reason/s for Recommendation/s

10.To ensure the Council is able to exercise its statutory powers in relation to RIPA where it is
necessary and proportionate to do so.

Statutory and Policy Implications

11.This report has been compiled after consideration of implications in respect of crime and
disorder, data protection and information governance, finance, human resources, human
rights, the NHS Constitution (public health services), the public sector equality duty,
safeguarding of children and adults at risk, service users, smarter working, sustainability and
the environment and and where such implications are material they are described below.
Appropriate consultation has been undertaken and advice sought on these issues as
required.

Crime and Disorder Implications

Use of surveillance can assist the Council in relation to the reduction of crime in
Nottinghamshire.

Human Rights Implications
Every authorisation for surveillance requires consideration of human rights including the right to
privacy and the right to a fair trial. The rights of people under surveillance need to be balanced

against public safety and the prevention of crime. This is why every authorisation has to clearly
set out why the surveillance is considered necessary and proportionate in the circumstances.
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RECOMMENDATION/S

1) To approve the proposals set out in the report to raise staff awareness in relation to RIPA

2) That members consider whether there are any actions they require in relation to the
iIssues contained within the report

3) That members agree to receive a further overview report in 12 months’ time and that this

be included in the work programme

Jayne Francis-Ward
Corporate Director Resource, Monitoring Officer and Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA

For any enquiries about this report please contact:

Sue Bearman, Senior Solicitor

susan.bearman@nottscc.gov.uk

Constitutional Comments (SMG 13/9/17)

12.The proposals set out in this report fall within the remit of this Committee.

Financial Comments (SES 10/10/17)

13.There are no specific financial implications arising directly from this report.

Background Papers and Published Documents
Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents

listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local
Government Act 1972.

e Communities and Place Committee report dated 7 September 2017 is published

e Letter from the office of Surveillance Commissioners dated 20 March 2017 — Covert
Surveillance and Social Networking Sites

¢ Nottinghamshire County Council’s RIPA and Surveillance Policy

Electoral Division(s) and Member(s) Affected

e All
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I%a Nottinghamshire Report to Governance & Ethics

¥ 1 County Council Committee
8 November 2017

Agenda Item: 8

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES

JOINT CIVIC RECEPTION FOR NOTTINGHAMSHIRE COUNTY CRICKET
CLUB

Purpose of the Report

1.

To seek approval for a civic reception for the Nottinghamshire County Cricket Club, to be
funded jointly by the County Council, Rushcliffe Borough Council, Nottingham City Council
and the Cricket Club.

Information and Advice

2.

Nottinghamshire County Cricket Club has had a hugely successful season in 2017 having
been promoted to Division One and winning both the NatWest T20 Blast championship and
the Royal London One — Day Cup.

Nottinghamshire County Council, Nottingham City Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council
are keen to mark these achievements by holding a joint civic reception in the Club’s honour
at the Trent Bridge Cricket Ground.

The reception will be held on 21% November in the Derek Randall Suite from 5.30pm —
7.00pm and will consist of a buffet and refreshments for approximately 200 guests.

The invited guests will consist of the players and representatives of the Cricket Club and
relevant Councillors, officers and guests from each of the three Councils. The County
Council will be allocated 40 places at the event.

Other Options Considered

6.

To host a County Council event at County Hall. The proposed joint event builds on the
positive working relationship which all three Councils have developed with the Cricket Club
and also assists in maximising resources and reducing the costs to the County Council.

Reason/s for Recommendation/s

7.

To seek approval for this event.
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Statutory and Policy Implications

8. This report has been compiled after consideration of implications in respect of crime and
disorder, data protection and information governance, finance, human resources, human
rights, the NHS Constitution (public health services), the public sector equality duty,
safeguarding of children and adults at risk, service users, smarter working, sustainability and
the environment and where such implications are material they are described below.
Appropriate consultation has been undertaken and advice sought on these issues as
required.

Financial Implications

9. The cost to the County Council will be £600. This cost will be met from the Chairman’s
Hospitality budget.

RECOMMENDATION

1) That approval be given for a joint civic reception for Nottinghamshire County Cricket Club
to be held on 21 November 2017 — 5.30 -7.00pm at Trent Bridge.

Jayne Francis-Ward
Corporate Director - Resources

For any enquiries about this report please contact:
Keith Ford, Team Manager, Democratic Services Tel. 0115 9772590
E-mail: keith.ford@nottscc.gov.uk

Constitutional Comments (SLB — 20/10/17)

Governance and Ethics Committee is the appropriate body to consider the content of this report
by virtue of its remit in relation to the Democratic Services function.

Financial Comments (RWK - 23/10/17)

The financial implications are set out in paragraph 9 of the report.

Background Papers

Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local
Government Act 1972.

None

Electoral Division(s) and Member(s) Affected

All
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I%a Nottinghamshire Report to Governance & Ethics

¥ 1 County Council Committee
8 November 2017

Agenda Item: 9

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES

WORK PROGRAMME

Purpose of the Report

1.

To review the Committee’s work programme for 2017/18.

Information and Advice

2.

The County Council requires each committee to maintain a work programme. The work
programme will assist the management of the Committee’s agenda, the scheduling of the
Committee’s business and forward planning. The work programme will be updated and
reviewed at each pre-agenda meeting and Committee meeting. Any member of the
Committee is able to suggest items for possible inclusion.

The attached work programme includes items which can be anticipated at the present time.
Other items will be added to the programme as they are identified.

Other Options Considered

4.

None.

Reason/s for Recommendation/s

5.

To assist the Committee in preparing and managing its work programme.

Statutory and Policy Implications

6.

This report has been compiled after consideration of implications in respect of crime and
disorder, data protection and information governance, finance, human resources, human
rights, the NHS Constitution (public health services), the public sector equality duty,
safeguarding of children and adults at risk, service users, smarter working, sustainability and
the environment and where such implications are material they are described below.
Appropriate consultation has been undertaken and advice sought on these issues as
required.

RECOMMENDATION

1)

That Committee considers whether any changes are required to the work programme.
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Jayne Francis-Ward
Corporate Director - Resources

For any enquiries about this report please contact:
Keith Ford, Team Manager, Democratic Services Tel. 0115 9772590
E-mail: keith.ford@nottscc.gov.uk

Constitutional Comments (SLB)

The Committee has authority to consider the matters set out in this report by virtue of its terms
of reference.

Financial Comments (NS)

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

Background Papers

Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the documents
listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section 100D of the Local
Government Act 1972.

None

Electoral Division(s) and Member(s) Affected

All
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GOVERNANCE & ETHICS COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME (AS AT 25 OCTOBER 2017)

Report Title

| Brief summary of agenda item

| Lead Officer

| Report Author

13 December 2017

Risk management update

Periodic update on Risk Management issues.

Paul McKay

Robert Fisher

External Audit — Annual
Audit Letter 2016/17

KPMG summarises the findings from work carried out
by the external auditors over the last financial year
(2016/17)

Nigel Stevenson

Glen Bicknell /
External Auditor

complaints dealt with by the Council during 2016-17

Internal Audit Limited To consider the issues identified in a recent internal Rob Disney Rob Disney
Assurance Report — Direct | audit of direct payments and the proposed actions to

Payments in Adults’ Social | address them.

Care

Annual Complaints Report | To provide the Committee with the annual report on Heather Dickinson Jo Kirkby

Information Governance
Improvement Programme

To report progress of the Information Governance
Improvement Programme

Jayne Francis-Ward

Caroline Agnew

1 February 2018

Review of Petitions Scheme

To review the Council’s existing Petitions Scheme.

Jayne Francis-Ward

Sue Bearman / Keith
Ford

Bodies

which they have been appointed.

Follow up of Internal Audit | To provide information on the Internal Audit’s high Rob Disney Rob Disney
Recommendations priority recommendations
To include an update on Interim Homecare audit
recommendations in relation to the award of the
contract for hospital discharges (as requested at
committee meeting of 15 June 2017).
NHS Digital Audit To review the findings of the NHS Digital Audit and Barbara Brady David Gilding
progress made with delivery of the action plan.
Councillor Code of Conduct | To consider a draft revised Councillor Code of Jayne Francis-Ward Keith Ford
Conduct, prior to submission to Policy Committee for
approval.
14 March 2018
Attendance at Outside To review Members’ attendance at outside bodies to Jayne Francis-Ward Keith Ford
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Report Title Brief summary of agenda item Lead Officer Report Author

Statement of Accounts To outline proposed changes to the accounting Nigel Stevenson Glen Bicknell

2017/18 — Accounting policies used for the Authority’s Statement of Accounts

Policies for 2017/18 for review and approval

Internal Audit Plan for Report from the Head of Internal Audit providing Rob Disney Rob Disney

2018/19 details of the planned work for 2018/19

External Audit Plan 2017/18 | To provide information on the External Auditors’ Audit | Nigel Stevenson Glen Bicknell /
Plan for their 2017/18 Audit. External Auditor

Certification of Grants and | To provide information on the External Auditors’ Nigel Stevenson Glen Bicknell /

Returns 2016/17

Annual Report 2016/17 on the certification of
Grants and Returns

External Auditor

Information Governance
Improvement Programme

To report progress of the Information Governance
Improvement Programme

Jayne Francis-Ward

Caroline Agnew

2 May 2018

Follow up of Internal Audit | To provide information on the Internal Audit’s high Rob Disney Rob Disney
Recommendations priority recommendations

13 June 2018

Risk management update Periodic update on Risk Management issues. Paul McKay Robert Fisher

Annual Governance To agree the Council’s Annual Governance Nigel Stevenson Rob Disney
Statement Statement.

25 July 2018

Follow up of Internal Audit | To provide information on the Internal Audit’s high Rob Disney Rob Disney

Recommendations

priority recommendations

Information Governance
Improvement Programme

To report progress of the Information Governance
Improvement Programme

Jayne Francis-Ward

Caroline Agnew
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